QUADRATIC ENRICHMENT OF THE LOGARITHMIC DERIVATIVE OF THE ZETA FUNCTION

MARGARET BILU, WEI HO, PADMAVATHI SRINIVASAN, ISABEL VOGT, AND KIRSTEN WICKELGREN

ABSTRACT. We define an enrichment of the logarithmic derivative of the zeta function of a variety over a finite field to a power series with coefficients in the Grothendieck–Witt group. This enrichment is related to the topology of the real points of a lift. We show a rationality result for cellular schemes over a field, and compute several examples, including toric varieties.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Preliminaries	7 7
2.1. Categorical preliminaries	7
2.2. On the motivic Spanier-Whitehead category and Milnor-Witt K-theory	8
2.3. \mathbb{A}^1 -derived category and \mathbb{A}^1 -homology	10
3. A¹-Spanier–Whitehead category of cellular smooth schemes	12
3.1. Cellular schemes	12
3.2. Cellular Spanier–Whitehead category	13
4. The cellular homology of Morel–Sawant on cellular Thom spaces	14
5. Spanier–Whitehead cellular complex	18
5.1. Definitions and basic properties	18
5.2. Endomorphisms, traces, and characteristic polynomials	19
5.3. Cellular Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula	21
6. Rationality of the zeta function	22
7. A¹-logarithmic zeta functions and real points	24
8. Computing A ¹ -logarithmic zeta functions and examples	28
8.1. A ¹ -zeta function of Frobenius endomorphisms using Theorem 6.2	28
8.2. A¹-logarithmic zeta functions via Hoyois's trace formula	31
8.3. The logarithmic zeta function of non-cellular schemes	34
9. Motivic measures	34
9.1. The \mathbb{A}^1 -trace as a motivic measure	35
9.2. The enriched zeta function as a motivic measure	36
References	36

Date: October 7, 2022.

1. Introduction

Let X be a smooth projective variety over a finite field \mathbb{F}_q . The zeta function of X is defined by

$$\zeta_X(t) = \exp\left(\sum_{m>1} rac{|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|}{m} t^m
ight).$$

It is known by the Weil conjectures that $\zeta_X(t)$ is a rational function related to the complex points of a lift of X. A proof of its rationality proceeds by using the Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula, which replaces each point count $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|$ by an alternating sum of traces of the m-th power of the Frobenius endomorphism on the ℓ -adic cohomology groups of X (see, for example, [Mil13, Theorem 27.6]). The aim of this paper is to define and study an enrichment of (the logarithmic derivative of) this zeta function, by replacing the point counts with traces in the sense of \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy theory.

Let X be a smooth, proper variety over a field k (not necessarily finite). Due to work of Hu, Rioux, and Dubouloz–Déglise–Østvaer [Hu05, Rio05, DDØ22], X is dualizable in the \mathbb{A}^1 -stable homotopy category SH(k). It follows that an endomorphism $\varphi: X \to X$ has a trace $\mathrm{Tr}(\varphi)$ valued in the endomorphisms of the motivic sphere spectrum. A theorem of Morel [Mor04] identifies this endomorphism ring with the Grothendieck–Witt group GW(k) of k, defined to be the group completion of isomorphism classes of symmetric nondegenerate bilinear forms on k (see Section 2.2, and note that by Hoyois [Hoy15, Footnote 1], we need not assume k is perfect). We may therefore define the following enrichment to GW(k) of the logarithmic derivative of the zeta function.

Definition 1.1. Let X be a smooth, proper variety over a field k. Let $\varphi : X \to X$ be an endomorphism. The \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function of (X, φ) is defined by

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} := \sum_{m \geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^m) t^{m-1} \in \operatorname{GW}(k)[[t]].$$

In fact, the variety X need not be proper. By [LYZR19, Corollary B.2], a smooth scheme X over a field k is dualizable in the localized \mathbb{A}^1 -stable homotopy category $\mathrm{SH}(k)_{\mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{p}\right]}$ where p is the characteristic exponent of k. For an endomorphism $\phi: X \to X$ of a smooth scheme over a field k, we have the more general definition

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^l} := \sum_{m \geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^m) t^{m-1} \in \operatorname{GW}(k)[\tfrac{1}{p}][[t]].$$

For p odd, $GW(k) \subseteq GW(k)[\frac{1}{p}]$.

This \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function recovers the classical zeta function via the rank map. In particular, \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy theory admits realization functors, including a symmetric monoidal stable étale realization $r_{\text{\'et},\ell}$ from SH(k) to the derived category of ℓ -adic étale sheaves on the big étale site of k. It follows that $r_{\text{\'et},\ell}(\operatorname{Tr}\phi) = \operatorname{Tr}(r_{\text{\'et},\ell}\phi)$, which is the integer-valued trace of the usual Weil conjectures. The rank homomorphism, denoted rank: $\operatorname{GW}(k) \to \mathbb{Z}$, sends the isomorphism class of a bilinear form $\beta: V \times V \to k$ to the dimension of the k-vector space V. Via the identification of $\operatorname{GW}(k)$ and the endomorphisms of the sphere spectrum, the étale realization map $r_{\text{\'et},\ell}:\operatorname{End}(1_k)\to\operatorname{End}(r_{\text{\'et},\ell}(1_k))$ is identified with rank. It follows

that

(1)
$$\operatorname{rank} \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \log \zeta_{X,\phi},$$

where $\zeta_{X,\phi}$ denotes the classical zeta function

$$(2) \qquad \zeta_{X,\phi}(t) = \prod_{i} (P_{\phi|H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}}(t))^{(-1)^{i+1}} \qquad \text{where} \quad P_{\phi|H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}}(t) := \det(1-t\phi|H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{k^{s}};\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})).$$

We investigate the additional information recorded in the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function. A case of particular interest in this paper is when k is finite and $\phi: X \to X$ is the Frobenius endomorphism. If k is the finite field \mathbb{F}_q of q elements, the Grothendieck–Witt group $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is computed as

$$\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q) \cong \frac{\mathbb{Z}[\langle u \rangle]}{(\langle u \rangle^2 - 1, 2(\langle u \rangle - 1))}$$

where u is a fixed non-square in \mathbb{F}_q and $\langle u \rangle$ denotes the class of the bilinear form $k \times k \to k$ sending (x,y) to uxy. As a group $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, by sending a class in $\mathrm{GW}(k)$ to the pair given by its rank and its discriminant. As above, the rank gives the classical zeta function. The discriminant term can be computed in terms of $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|$ with Hoyois's beautiful enriched Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula [Hoy15] (see Section 8.2):

$$\operatorname{disc}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}} = \sum_{m\geq 1} \left(\sum_{\substack{i|m\\i,\,\,\mathrm{even}}} \frac{1}{i} \sum_{d|i} \mu(d) |X(\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^{i/d}})| \right) t^{m-1},$$

where μ denotes the Möbius function. Combining rank and discriminant yields the expression

(3)
$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} = \sum_{m \geq 1} \left(\sum_{i \mid m} \alpha(i) \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^i/\mathbb{F}_q}} \langle 1 \rangle \right) t^{m-1},$$

where $\alpha(i)$ denotes the number of points of X with residue field \mathbb{F}_{q^i} and $\mathrm{Tr}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^i}/\mathbb{F}_q}\langle 1 \rangle$ is the transfer on GW (see (18) and (21) for the definition and computation of the transfer). Theorem 8.9 gives a further computation of dlog $\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^l}$ for the Frobenius ϕ of X over a finite field in terms of point counts. It is amenable to (computer) computation up to finitely many coefficients of t^m , e.g., for elliptic curves; see Section 8.3. Finitely many coefficients of t^m determine the entire \mathbb{A}^l -logarithmic zeta function because the same is true for the classical zeta function.

Connections with topology and real points. Zeta functions gain power by relating the integers $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|$ to étale cohomology. The rationality result of the Weil conjectures (2) shows that the infinitely many integers $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|$ for $m=1,2,\ldots$ are determined by the coefficients of the $P_{\phi|H^i_{\text{\'et}}}(t)$, which are finite in number and admit a beautiful relationship with topology. Transcendental results relate étale cohomology to the complex points $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ of a lift \mathcal{X} of X to characteristic 0. The ranks of the singular cohomology groups of $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ then determine the degrees of the $P_{\phi|H^i_{\text{\'et}}}(t)$. In this way, the classical zeta function is an algebraic manipulation of the numbers $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|$ related to the topology of $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$.

The \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function (3) is similarly an algebraic manipulation of the $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|$, but it is related both to the topology of $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ and to the topology of $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ by the rank and discriminant, respectively. For example, the scheme $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ over \mathbb{R} has a twist $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{P}^1$,

given by the Weil restriction of scalars. The topology of the complex points of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ is unchanged by the twist, but the topology of the real points is changed from a product of two circles to a 2-sphere

$$(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)(\mathbb{R}) \simeq S^1 \times S^1 \qquad \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{R}) \simeq S^2.$$

If q is a prime congruent to 3 modulo 4, then the extension $\mathbb{F}_q \subset \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ is given by $\mathbb{F}_{q^2} = \mathbb{F}_q[\sqrt{-1}]$ and the \mathbb{R} -schemes $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ and $\mathrm{Res}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{P}^1$ are lifts to characteristic zero of the varieties $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ and $\mathrm{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q} \mathbb{P}^1$ over \mathbb{F}_q , respectively. The change in the topology of the real points of the lifts to characteristic zero is reflected in the \mathbb{A}^1 -zeta functions:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1, \phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} &= \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{(1-t)(1-q_\varepsilon^2 t)} + \langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{(1-q_\varepsilon t)^2} \\ \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q}}^{\mathbb{A}^1} &= \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{(1-t)(1-q_\varepsilon^2 t)} + \langle -u \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{1-q_\varepsilon \langle u \rangle t} + \langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{1+q_\varepsilon t}, \end{split}$$

Here $\mathfrak u$ is a nonsquare in $\mathbb F_q^*$, which we may take to be $\mathfrak u=-1$ under our assumption that $\mathfrak q\equiv 3\pmod 4$. (See Examples 8.7 and 8.13 for details of the computation.) Applying the discriminant homomorphism disc: $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb F_q)\to\mathbb F_q^*/(\mathbb F_q^*)^2\cong\mathbb Z/2\mathbb Z$ also gives different values:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{disc}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta^{\mathbb{A}^1}_{\mathbb{P}^1\times\mathbb{P}^1,\phi}&=\operatorname{disc}\langle-1\rangle\frac{d}{dt}\log(1-t)^2\neq0,\\ \operatorname{disc}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta^{\mathbb{A}^1}_{\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q}\mathbb{P}^1,\phi}&=0. \end{split}$$

See also Remark 8.15.

More generally, we prove results on the relationship between dlog $\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1}$ and $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ in Section 7. There is a signature homomorphism sign: $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{Z}$ that sends $\mathfrak{a}\langle 1 \rangle + \mathfrak{b}\langle -1 \rangle$ to $\mathfrak{a} - \mathfrak{b}$. In the presence of a lift of Frobenius, Proposition 7.3 and Corollary 7.4 say that in an appropriate sense, there is a well-defined signature of dlog $\zeta_{X,\mathbb{R}_n}^{\mathbb{A}^1}$ that can be computed as

$$\operatorname{sign}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta_{X,\mathbb{F}_q}^{\mathbb{A}^1}=\prod \det(1-t\phi(\mathbb{R})|H^i_{\operatorname{top}}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R});\mathbb{Z})).$$

For example, this computes dlog $\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1}$ for toric varieties; see Example 7.5. To eliminate the assumption that a lift of Frobenius exists, we turn to further machinery.

Trace formula and rationality. Missing from the discussion so far is an expression for $Tr(\phi)$ in terms of a trace on cohomology, analogous to the Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula

$$\mathrm{Tr}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}}) = \sum_{i=0}^{2d} (-1)^{i} \, \mathrm{Tr}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}}|H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{k^{s}};\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})).$$

Such formulas relate the classical zeta function of a variety over a finite field to the complex points of a lift of the variety, without requiring the much more restrictive hypothesis of a lift of Frobenius.

For this, we use Morel and Sawant's A¹-cellular homology [MS20], currently defined for so-called cellular schemes, which are a generalization of the classical notion of varieties with an affine stratification. In [MS20, Remark 2.44], they note the existence of an extension of this theory to a pro-object for all spaces in the sense of A¹-homotopy theory and in particular, for all smooth schemes over a field. Supported by conjectures on Poincaré duality for their theory, they conjecture that for smooth, projective varieties over a field, this pro-object is in fact constant [Mor22]. If their conjectures are true, our work may likewise extend to varieties

which are not cellular. In this paper, we proceed for cellular schemes; see Section 3.1 for the definitions.

We use the machinery of Morel and Sawant to give a GW(k)-enriched Grothendieck– Lefschetz trace formula:

Theorem 1. Let $\varphi: X \to X$ be an endomorphism of a smooth projective simple cellular scheme X over a field k. In GW(k) we have the equality

$$\mathrm{Tr}(\phi) = \sum_{\mathrm{i}} \langle -1 \rangle^{\mathrm{i}} \, \mathrm{Tr}(C_{\mathrm{i}}^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi))$$

where $C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)$ denotes the \mathbb{A}^1 -cellular complex of Morel and Sawant in degree i.

See Theorem 5.9. (This is a different result from the main theorem of [Hoy15] despite the similarity in the name.) This expression for $\text{Tr}(\varphi)$ in terms of the trace of the cellular complex leads to rationality results for the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function, which we now describe.

Because we are working with the logarithmic derivative, we need an appropriate definition of rationality in this context. Here, we enrich the logarithmic derivative of the zeta function, rather than the zeta function itself, because the Grothendieck–Witt group in general has torsion elements. (See Remark 6.3 for why this does not lift to a notion of rationality using a standard λ -ring structure.)

Definition 1.2. Let R be a ring. We say a power series $\Phi(t) \in R[[t]]$ is dlog rational if there exists a finite collection of polynomials $P_j \equiv 1 \pmod{t}$ in R[t] and elements $c_j \in R$ such that

$$\Phi(t) = \sum_{i} c_{i} \frac{P'_{i}(t)}{P_{i}(t)},$$

where $\frac{1}{P_{i}(t)} := \sum_{m \geq 0} (1 - P_{j}(t))^{m}$.

Example 1.3. If a rational power series Ψ with integer coefficients can be put in the form

$$\Psi(t) = \prod_{j} P_{j}(t)^{c_{j}}$$

where $P_j(t)$ are polynomials with integer coefficients such that $P_j \equiv 1 \mod t$, and $c_j \in \mathbb{Z}$, then $\frac{d}{dt} \log \psi$ is dlog rational. In particular, the Weil conjectures imply that $\frac{d}{dt} \log \zeta_X(t)$ is dlog rational for every smooth projective variety X over a finite field.

We prove that the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta functions of simple cellular schemes are dlog rational with polynomial terms coming from the characteristic polynomials of matrices of elements of GW(k) giving the action of the endomorphism ϕ (see Theorem 6.2):

Theorem 2. Let k be a field, and let X be a smooth projective scheme over k with a simple cellular structure. Let $\varphi: X \to X$ be an endomorphism of X. The function $\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\varphi}^{\mathbb{A}^1}$ is dlog rational. More precisely,

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} -\langle -1 \rangle^i \frac{d}{dt} \log P_{C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(\phi)}(t), \quad \textit{where} \quad P_{C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(\phi)}(t) = \det(1 - t C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(\phi))$$

and $C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)$ is a square matrix of elements of $\mathrm{GW}(k).$

Our methods also yield variations on such a result. For example, we weaken simple cellular structure to cellular structure in Theorem 6.1: we lose matrices of elements of GW(k) and dlog rationality in the sense of Definition 1.2 (at least in so far as we can currently prove!) in exchange for an abstract logarithmic derivative of a characteristic polynomial on the ith term of Morel–Sawant's cellular complex. This abstract logarithmic derivative of a characteristic polynomial is introduced in Definition 5.4 and is an abstraction of the elementary algebraic lemma that says that if $\varphi: V \to V$ is an endomorphism of a finite-dimensional vector space with characteristic polynomial $P_{\varphi}(t)$, then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\log P_{\phi}(t) = -\sum_{m>1} \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^m) t^{m-1}.$$

We use the notational convention that $\frac{d}{dt}$ log denotes taking a derivative of a logarithm, while dlog denotes a formal substitute.

In this setup, the logarithmic \mathbb{A}^1 -zeta function still retains terms associated to the cellular complex. For example, in the logarithmic zeta functions for both $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ and $\mathrm{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q} \mathbb{P}^1$ with the Frobenius ϕ , we have terms $\frac{d}{dt} \log((1-t)^{-1}(1-q_\varepsilon^2t)^{-1})$, which come from the degree 0 and 2 terms in the cellular complex (which up to quasi-isomorphism is independent of the cellular structure! [MS20, Corollary 2.42]). The difference comes from terms in degree 1. For $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ these are straightforward to compute (see Corollary 8.2 for the computation of the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function of any strictly cellular, smooth, projective variety, including products of projective spaces and Grassmannians). We obtain a quadratic term $\langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{(1-q_\varepsilon t)^2}$ from the two obvious 1-cells of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. The $\langle -1 \rangle$ in front corresponds to the fact that the real dimension of these cells is odd. In dlog $\zeta_{\mathrm{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q}}^{\mathbb{P}^1,\phi}$ by contrast, the contribution from the 1-cells is

$$\langle -u \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{(1-q_\varepsilon \langle u \rangle t)} + \langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{(1+q_\varepsilon t),}$$

which has vanishing discriminant, related to the disappearance of the 1-cells over R.

Outline of paper. Section 2 introduces some background needed for the remainder of the paper. Section 3 constructs the categories of cellular schemes used in the paper. In Section 4, we use Morel–Sawant's [MS20] \mathbb{A}^1 -cellular homology to define a symmetric monoidal functor $\tilde{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{cell}}_*$ from an \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy category of cellular schemes to a derived category of strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaves. In Section 5, we pass to appropriate Spanier–Whitehead categories to obtain dualizable objects. This defines a symmetric monoidal functor $\mathbb{C}^{\text{SW-cell}}_*$ from the \mathbb{A}^1 -cellular-Spanier–Whitehead category to a \mathbb{K}^{MW}_1 [1]-Spanier–Whitehead category of a derived category of strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaves. We give an explicit computation of the dual of $\mathbb{C}^{\text{SW-cell}}_*$ (\mathbb{X}_+) for X a scheme with a simple (e.g., strict) cellular structure; see Propositions 5.7 and 5.8. In Section 5.3, we show the resulting Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula. We then prove in Section 6 the desired rationality results by computing the trace using $\mathbb{C}^{\text{SW-cell}}_*$. Some aspects of the relationship with real points is discussed in Section 7. In Section 8, we compute examples. Finally, in Section 9, we explore the link between our \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function for the Frobenius with Kapranov's motivic zeta function, explaining that they appear to be different. We also show the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function defines a motivic measure on the (modified) Grothendieck ring of varieties $\mathbb{K}_0(\mathrm{Var}_{\mathbb{F}_q})$.

Acknowledgements. We wish to thank Piotr Achinger, Tom Bachmann, Spencer Bloch, Grigory Garkusha, Bruno Kahn, Hannah Larson, Fabien Morel, Markus Spitzweck, Vasudevan Srinivas, and Paul Arne Østvær for useful comments and discussions. We are particularly grateful to Tom Bachmann for correcting two related errors in an earlier draft.

We warmly thank Fabien Morel for discussions during the August 2022 Motivic Geometry conference in Oslo. He has independently considered using the Grothendieck–Witt enrichment from SH in the context of the Weil Conjectures. There are connections of our work to his ongoing work with Anand Sawant. In particular, their conjectures on the A¹-cellular complex may help extend rationality results like Theorem 6.1 to arbitrary smooth projective varieties.

This project grew out of the Women in Numbers 5 virtual workshop. WH was partially supported by NSF CAREER DMS-1844763 and the Minerva Research Foundation. PS is supported by the Simons Collaboration in Arithmetic Geometry, Number Theory, and Computation via the Simons Foundation grant 546235. IV was partially supported by NSF MSPRF DMS-1902743 and by NSF DMS-2200655. KW was partially supported by NSF CAREER DMS-2001890 and NSF-DMS 2103838. She also thanks the Isaac Newton Institute for hospitality during the program K-theory, Algebraic Cycles and Motivic Homotopy.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Categorical preliminaries. Let $(C, \otimes_C, 1_C, \tau_C)$ be a symmetric monoidal category in the sense of, e.g., [Mar09, 1.2].

Definition 2.1. (See, for example, [PS14, Definition 2.1].) An object A of a symmetric monoidal category $(\mathcal{C}, \otimes_{\mathcal{C}}, \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}}, \tau_{\mathcal{C}})$ is dualizable if there is a dual object $\mathbb{D}A$ in \mathcal{C} in the sense that there exist coevaluation and evaluation maps

$$\eta: 1_{\mathcal{C}} \to A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} \mathbb{D}A$$
 $\epsilon: \mathbb{D}A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} A \to 1_{\mathcal{C}}$

respectively, such that the composites

$$A \xrightarrow{\eta \otimes 1_{A}} A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} \mathbb{D}A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} A \xrightarrow{1_{A} \otimes \varepsilon} A$$

$$\mathbb{D}A \xrightarrow{1_{\mathbb{D}A} \otimes \eta} \mathbb{D}A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} \mathbb{D}A \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \otimes 1_{\mathbb{D}A}} \mathbb{D}A$$

are the identity maps 1_A and $1_{\mathbb{D}A}$, respectively.

Definition 2.2. (See, for example, [PS14, Definition 2.2].) For an endomorphism $\varphi : A \to A$ of a dualizable object A with dual $\mathbb{D}A$, the categorical trace $\operatorname{tr}(\varphi) \in \operatorname{End}(1_{\mathcal{C}})$ is the composition

$$1_{\mathcal{C}} \xrightarrow{\eta} A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} \mathbb{D}A \xrightarrow{\phi \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} \mathrm{Id}_{\mathbb{D}A}} A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} \mathbb{D}A \xrightarrow{\tau_{\mathcal{C}}} \mathbb{D}A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} A \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} 1_{\mathcal{C}}.$$

Definition 2.3. A symmetric monoidal functor is a functor $F: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ between symmetric monoidal categories, together with a natural isomorphism $F(1_{\mathcal{C}}) \cong 1_{\mathcal{D}}$ and for all objects $A, B \in \mathcal{C}$, natural isomorphisms $\iota_{A,B} : F(A) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} F(B) \xrightarrow{\cong} F(A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} B)$ satisfying associativity, unitality, and symmetry; the last is the condition that the diagrams

$$F(A \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} B) \xrightarrow{F(\tau_{\mathcal{C}})} F(B \otimes_{\mathcal{C}} A)$$

$$\downarrow_{A,B} \uparrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{B,A} \uparrow$$

$$F(A) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} F(B) \xrightarrow{\tau_{\mathcal{D}}} F(B) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} F(A)$$

commute (see [Mac71, Chapter XI]).

Proposition 2.4. Let $F: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ be a symmetric monoidal functor. Let A be a dualizable object of \mathcal{C} with dual $\mathbb{D}A$. Then

- (1) F(A) is dualizable with dual $F(\mathbb{D}A)$, and
- (2) for any endomorphism $\varphi : A \to A$, we have $\operatorname{tr}(F(\varphi)) = F(\operatorname{tr}(\varphi))$.

Proof. Straightforward.

We recall the notion of a Spanier-Whitehead category [Voe98, Section 4].

Definition 2.5. Let $(\mathcal{C}, \otimes_{\mathcal{C}}, 1_{\mathcal{C}}, \tau_{\mathcal{C}})$ be a symmetric monoidal category and T be an object of \mathcal{C} . The Spanier–Whitehead category $\mathcal{C}[T^{\otimes -1}]$ is the category with objects (C, n), where C is an object of \mathcal{C} and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, and morphisms given by

$$\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}[T^{\otimes -1}]}((C,n),(C',n')) = \operatorname{colim}_{m \geq -n,-n'} \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}}(T^{\otimes m+n} \otimes C,T^{\otimes m+n'} \otimes C')$$

Composition of morphisms is given by the expected formula.

By [Voe98, Theorem 4.3], the composition $(C, n) \otimes (C', n') := (C \otimes C', n + n')$ defines a symmetric monoidal structure on $\mathcal{C}[T^{\otimes -1}]$ provided that the cyclic permutation of $T \otimes T \otimes T$ is the identity. Moreover, in this case, the functor $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}[T^{\otimes -1}]$ sending C to (C, 0) is symmetric monoidal and the object (T, 0) has tensor inverse $T^{\otimes -1} = (1_{\mathcal{C}}, -1)$.

Proposition 2.6. Let $(C, \otimes_C, 1_C, \tau_C)$ and $(\mathcal{D}, \otimes_{\mathcal{D}}, 1_{\mathcal{D}}, \tau_{\mathcal{D}})$ be a symmetric monoidal categories and let T be an object of C such that the cyclic permutation of $T \otimes T \otimes T$ is the identity. Suppose that $F: C \to \mathcal{D}$ is a symmetric monoidal functor. Then there is a unique (up to unique isomorphism) symmetric monoidal functor $F[T^{\otimes -1}]: C[T^{\otimes -1}] \to \mathcal{D}[F(T)^{\otimes -1}]$ such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\mathcal{C} & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{F}} & \mathcal{D} \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
\mathcal{C}[\mathsf{T}^{\otimes -1}] \xrightarrow{\mathsf{F}[\mathsf{T}^{\otimes -1}]} \mathcal{D}[\mathsf{F}(\mathsf{T})^{\otimes -1}]
\end{array}$$

commutes.

Proof. Since the cyclic permutation of $T \otimes T \otimes T$ is the identity and F is a symmetric monoidal functor, the cyclic permutation of $F(T) \otimes F(T) \otimes F(T)$ is the identity. Thus $\mathcal{D}[F(T)^{\otimes -1}]$ is a symmetric monoidal category receiving a canonical symmetric monoidal functor from \mathcal{D} . Define $F[T^{\otimes -1}](C,\mathfrak{n}):=(F(C),\mathfrak{n})$. Then $F[T^{\otimes -1}]$ is a symmetric monoidal functor such that (4) commutes. Uniqueness follows from the isomorphism $(C,\mathfrak{n})\cong C\otimes_{\mathcal{C}[T^{\otimes -1}]}T^{\otimes \mathfrak{n}}$ in $\mathcal{C}[T^{\otimes -1}]$. Here C and T also denote their images $(C,\mathfrak{0})$ and $(T,\mathfrak{0})$, respectively, under the canonical functor $\mathcal{C}\to\mathcal{C}[T^{\otimes -1}]$.

2.2. On the motivic Spanier–Whitehead category and Milnor–Witt K-theory. Let Sm_k denote the category of smooth schemes over a field k. We will be working with the Morel–Voevodsky \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy category $\mathcal{H}(k)$ over k, and its pointed version $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$ [MV99, p. 109]. A feature of \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy theory is two different analogues of the circle: S^1 and $\mathbb{A}^1 - \{0\}$. We use the following indexing convention for the resulting spheres: let $S^{1,0} = S^1$, $S^{1,1} = \mathbb{A}^1 - \{0\}$, and $S^{p,q} = (S^{1,0})^{\wedge (p-q)} \wedge (S^{1,1})^{\wedge q}$. Let \mathbb{P}^1 denote projective space over k of dimension 1 pointed at ∞ . There is a weak equivalence $\mathbb{P}^1 \simeq S^{2,1}$ in $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$ induced from

the pushout and homotopy pushout $\mathbb{P}^1 \simeq \mathbb{A}^1 \cup_{\mathbb{G}_m} \mathbb{A}^1$. Inductive and gluing arguments show that $\mathbf{A}^n - \{0\} \simeq S^{2n-1,n}$ and $\mathbf{A}^n / \mathbf{A}^n - \{0\} \simeq S^{2n,n}$ [MV99, Example 2.20]. By [Mor12, Lemma 3.43(2)] (for example), the cyclic permutation on $\mathbb{P}^1 \wedge \mathbb{P}^1 \wedge \mathbb{P}^1$ is the identity in $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$. Let

$$\mathrm{SW}(k) := \mathcal{H}(k)_*[(\mathbb{P}^1)^{\otimes -1}]$$

be the Spanier-Whitehead category arising from $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$ with chosen object \mathbb{P}^1 (recall Definition 2.5); note that it is a symmetric monoidal category.

Given a vector bundle V on a smooth scheme X, the associated Thom space [MV99, p. 110-114] is defined as $\operatorname{Th}_X V := V/(V-0)$, where V-0 denotes the complement of the zero section. The stable \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy category $\operatorname{SH}(k)$ receives a symmetric monoidal functor from $\operatorname{SW}(k)$ which is fully faithful on smooth schemes and their Thom spaces [Voe98, Theorem 5.2, Corollary 5.3].

Fundamental theorems of Morel [Mor04, Mor12] compute certain stable and unstable homotopy groups of spheres in terms of Milnor–Witt K-theory. Let $K_*^{MW}(k) = \bigoplus_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} K_i^{MW}(k)$ denote the Milnor–Witt K-theory of a field k, defined by Morel and Hopkins to be the associative algebra generated by a symbol η of degree -1 and symbols [u] for $u \in k^*$ of degree +1, subject to the relations

$$[u][1-u] = 0,$$
 $[uv] = [u] + [v] + \eta[u][v],$ $\eta[u] = [u]\eta,$ $\eta h = 0$

for all u,v in k^* , where $h=2+[-1]\eta$ denotes the hyperbolic element. Let \underline{K}_*^{MW} denote the associated unramified sheaf on \mathbf{Sm}_k . (See [Mor12, Chapter 3.2] for the definition and more information on the associated unramified sheaf.) Then Morel [Mor12, Corollary 6.43] shows that

$$\operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{SH}(k)}(S^n,S^{n,m}) \cong \underline{K}_m^{\operatorname{MW}} \text{for all } n,m \qquad \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{H}(k)_*}(S^n,S^{n+m,m}) \cong \underline{K}_m^{\operatorname{MW}}, n \geq 2, m \geq 0.$$

The 0th graded piece $K_0^{\mathrm{MW}}(k)$ is isomorphic to the Grothendieck–Witt group $\mathrm{GW}(k)$ [Mor12, Lemma 3.10], defined to be the group completion of the semi-ring of nondegenerate symmetric bilinear forms. There is a presentation of $\mathrm{GW}(k)$ with generators

$$\langle a \rangle : k \times k \rightarrow k$$

 $(x,y) \mapsto axy$

for every $a \in k^*$, and relations given for all $a, b \in k^*$ by:

- (1) $\langle ab^2 \rangle = \langle a \rangle$;
- (2) $\langle a \rangle + \langle b \rangle = \langle a + b \rangle + \langle ab(a + b) \rangle$
- (3) $\langle a \rangle \langle b \rangle = \langle ab \rangle$.

The sheaf $\underline{K}_0^{\mathrm{MW}}$, also denoted $\underline{\mathrm{GW}}$, is the Nisnevich sheaf associated to the presheaf sending a smooth k-scheme Y to the group completion of the semi-ring of isomorphism classes of locally free sheaves V on Y equipped with a non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form $V \times V \to \mathcal{O}_Y$.

Let $\mathbf{Ab}(k)$ denote the abelian category of Nisnevich sheaves of abelian groups on \mathbf{Sm}_k . For future reference, we record the following well-known fact.

Lemma 2.7. There exists a natural isomorphism $\underline{K}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\mathrm{MW}} \to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(\underline{K}_{\mathfrak{n}}^{\mathrm{MW}},\underline{K}_{\mathfrak{n}+\mathfrak{m}}^{\mathrm{MW}})$ for all $\mathfrak{n},\mathfrak{m}>0$.

Proof. See also [Mor12, 3.2]. The natural map is multiplication on $\underline{K}_*^{\mathrm{MW}}$, or equivalently, that of [Mor12, Lemma 3.49]. Let $(-)_{-1}$ denote the -1 construction of Voevodsky [Mor12, p 33]. Applying this construction n times produces a map $(-)_{-1}^{\mathrm{on}} : \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(\underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}}, \underline{K}_{n+m}^{\mathrm{MW}}) \to$

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(\underline{K}_0^{\operatorname{MW}},\underline{K}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\operatorname{MW}}).$ Evaluation at 1 in $\underline{K}_0^{\operatorname{MW}}$ defines a map $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(\underline{K}_0^{\operatorname{MW}},\underline{K}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\operatorname{MW}}) \to \underline{K}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\operatorname{MW}},$ inverse to the given natural map.

2.3. \mathbb{A}^1 -derived category and \mathbb{A}^1 -homology. Let $\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ be the category of chain complexes C_* of Nisnevich sheaves of abelian groups on \mathbf{Sm}_k with differentials of degree -1. We denote by $\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ the associated derived category, obtained by inverting quasi-isomorphisms [Mor12, 6.2]. Let $\mathbb{Z}(\mathbb{A}^1)$ denote the free sheaf of abelian groups on the sheaf of sets represented by \mathbb{A}^1 . Note that the map $\mathbb{A}^1 \to \operatorname{Spec} k$ induces a map $\mathbb{Z}(\mathbb{A}^1) \to \mathbb{Z}$.

A chain complex C_* in $\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ is defined to be \mathbb{A}^1 -local if for any D_* in $\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$, the map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{D(\operatorname{\mathbf{Ab}}(k))}(D_*,C_*) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\operatorname{\mathbf{Ab}}(k))}(D_* \otimes \mathbb{Z}(\mathbb{A}^1),C_*)$$

is a bijection [Mor12, Definition 6.17]. The \mathbb{A}^1 -derived category $D_{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ [Mor12, Definition 6.17] is obtained from $\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ by inverting the \mathbb{A}^1 -quasi-isomorphisms, defined to be morphisms $f: C_* \to D_*$ such that for all \mathbb{A}^1 -local chain complexes E_*

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}(\mathbf{Ab})}(\mathsf{D}_*,\mathsf{E}_*) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}(\mathbf{Ab})}(\mathsf{C}_*,\mathsf{E}_*)$$

is bijective. There is an *(abelian)* \mathbb{A}^1 -localization functor $L_{\mathbb{A}^1}^{ab}: \mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}(k)) \to \mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ inducing a left-adjoint to the inclusion of \mathbb{A}^1 -local complexes in $D(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ [Mor12, 6.18, 6.19]; it induces an equivalence of categories between $D_{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ and the full subcategory of \mathbb{A}^1 -local complexes.

For a simplicial Nisnevich sheaf \mathcal{X} on \mathbf{Sm}_k , let $C_*(\mathcal{X})$ in $\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$ denote the normalized chain complex associated to the free simplicial abelian group $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{X}$ on \mathcal{X} . The \mathbb{A}^l -chain complex $C_*^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\mathcal{X})$ (see [Mor12, Chapter 6.2]) is obtained by taking the \mathbb{A}^l -localization of $C_*(\mathcal{X})$. This defines a functor from the \mathbb{A}^l -homotopy category $\mathcal{H}(k)$ to the derived category $D_{\mathbb{A}^l}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))$:

$$C_*^{\mathbb{A}^1}:\mathcal{H}(k)\to D_{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathbf{Ab}(k)).$$

If \mathcal{X} is a pointed space, the reduced chain complex $\widetilde{C}_*(\mathcal{X})$, which is the kernel of the morphism of $C_*(\mathcal{X})$ to \mathbb{Z} , similarly gives rise to a reduced \mathbb{A}^1 -chain complex $\widetilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathcal{X})$.

Definition 2.8. For any simplicial Nisnevich sheaf \mathcal{X} on \mathbf{Sm}_k and integer n, the nth \mathbb{A}^1 -homology sheaf $H_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathcal{X})$ of \mathcal{X} is the nth homology sheaf of the \mathbb{A}^1 -chain complex $C_*^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathcal{X})$. For a pointed space \mathcal{X} , the nth reduced \mathbb{A}^1 -homology sheaf of \mathcal{X} is $\widetilde{H}_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathcal{X}) := H_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\widetilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathcal{X}))$.

Morel shows that \mathbb{A}^1 -homology sheaves are strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant [Mor12, Corollary 6.23] in the following sense.

Definition 2.9. Let \mathcal{F} be a sheaf of abelian groups on \mathbf{Sm}_k for the Nisnevich topology. Then \mathcal{F} is \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant if for every $U \in \mathbf{Sm}_k$, the projection map $U \times \mathbb{A}^1 \to U$ induces a bijection $\mathcal{F}(U) \to \mathcal{F}(U \times A^1)$. The sheaf \mathcal{F} is said to be strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant if for every $U \in \mathbf{Sm}_k$ and every integer $i \geq 0$, the projection map $U \times \mathbb{A}^1 \to U$ induces a bijection

$$H^{\mathfrak{i}}_{N\mathfrak{i}\mathfrak{s}}(U,\mathcal{F}) \to H^{\mathfrak{i}}_{N\mathfrak{i}\mathfrak{s}}(U \times \mathbb{A}^{1},\mathcal{F}).$$

The category of strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaves on \mathbf{Sm}_k is denoted $\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$.

For example, for a presheaf \mathcal{X} of sets on \mathbf{Sm}_k , the 0th \mathbb{A}^1 -homology $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathcal{X})$ is the free strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaf on \mathcal{X} . Morel computes

(5)
$$\widetilde{H}_{n}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\mathbf{A}^{n}/\mathbf{A}^{n} - \{0\}) \cong \underline{K}_{n}^{\mathrm{MW}} \text{ for } n \geq 1.$$

This follows from the \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence $\mathbf{A}^n/\mathbf{A}^n-\{0\}\simeq (S^1)^{\wedge n}\wedge (\mathbb{G}_m)^{\wedge n}$ [MV99, p. 110, Spheres, Suspensions, Thom Spaces], the suspension isomorphism $\widetilde{H}_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}((S^1)^{\wedge n}\wedge (\mathbb{G}_m)^{\wedge n})\cong \widetilde{H}_{n-1}^{\mathbb{A}^1}((S^1)^{\wedge n-1}\wedge (\mathbb{G}_m)^{\wedge n})$ [Mor12, Remark 6.30] and $\widetilde{H}_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}((\mathbb{G}_m)^{\wedge n})\cong \underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}}[\mathrm{Mor}12]$, Theorem 3.37 and Theorem 5.46]. For n=0, because $\mathbf{A}^n/\mathbf{A}^n-\{0\}\cong \mathrm{Spec}\,k_+$ and $\widetilde{H}_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathrm{Spec}\,k_+)\cong \mathbb{Z}$, we have

 $\widetilde{H}_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathbf{A}^n/\mathbf{A}^n-\{0\})\cong \mathbb{Z} \text{ for } n=0.$

By [Mor12, Corollary 6.24], $\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$ is an abelian category and the inclusion $\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k) \subset \mathbf{Ab}(k)$ is exact. There is a tensor product, denoted $\otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1}$ or $\otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)}$, on $\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$, defined by $M \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} N := \pi_0 L^{ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(M \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)} N)$ for $N, M \in \mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$. The map $M \otimes N \to M \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} N$ is the initial map to a strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaf, as we now explain: by [Mor12, Theorem 6.22], $L^{ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(M \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)} N)$ is -1-connected, and by [Mor12, Corollary 6.23], $\pi_0 L^{ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(M \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)} N)$ is an element of $\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$. A strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaf F, by [Mor12, Corollary 6.23], is \mathbb{A}^1 -local. Then a map $M \otimes N \to F$ factors uniquely $M \otimes N \to L^{ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(M \otimes N) \to F$. Since F has no higher homotopy groups, we have that $M \otimes N \to F$ thus factors uniquely $M \otimes N \to L^{ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(M \otimes N) \to F$.

Definition 2.10. (See [MS20, Definition 2.9].) A scheme X in \mathbf{Sm}_k is cohomologically trivial if for every $n \ge 1$ and every strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaf $M \in \mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$, we have $H^n_{Nis}(X, M) = 0$.

If X in \mathbf{Sm}_k is cohomologically trivial, then $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X)$ is projective in $\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$ [MS20, Example 2.36]. Moreover, if X and Y are cohomologically trivial in \mathbf{Sm}_k , so is $X \times Y$, and we have $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X \times Y) \cong H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X) \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)} H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(Y)$ [MS20, Remark 2.10 and p. 12].

Let $D(\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^1}}(k))$ denote the bounded derived category of $\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^1}}(k)$, obtained from the category $\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^1}}(k))$ by inverting quasi-isomorphisms. Let $D(\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^1}}(k)) \subseteq D(\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^1}}(k))$ denote the full subcategory on bounded complexes C_* of strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant sheaves C_* that are isomorphic either to $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X)$ for some cohomologically trivial X in $\mathbf{Sm_k}$ or to $\underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}} \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^1}}(k)} H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X)$ for some cohomologically trivial X and $n \geq 1$. In particular, the C_* are projective [MS20, Remark 2.26(1)].

We give $D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ the structure of a symmetric monoidal category as follows. For chain complexes P_* and P'_* representing objects of $D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$, the set of homomorphisms $\operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))}(P_*,P'_*)$ is given by homotopy classes of chain maps. Moreover, because $\underline{K}^{\mathrm{MW}}_n \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)} \underline{K}^{\mathrm{MW}}_m \cong \underline{K}^{\mathrm{MW}}_{n+m}$ for $n,m \geq 1$ [Mor12, Theorem 3.37] and $H^{\mathbb{A}^1}_0(X \times Y) \cong H^{\mathbb{A}^1}_0(X) \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)} H^{\mathbb{A}^1}_0(Y)$ as above, the tensor product of bounded chain complexes in $\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ determines a well-defined derived tensor product

$$(6) \qquad \otimes_{D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}^{p}(k))} : D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}^{p}(k)) \times D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}^{p}(k)) \to D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}^{p}(k))$$

$$P_{*} \otimes_{D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(k))} P'_{*} := P_{*} \otimes_{\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}})(k)} P'_{*}$$
with
$$d(x \otimes y) = d \otimes 1 + (-1)^{|x|} 1 \otimes d.$$

The symmetry isomorphism is defined as

$$\tau_{D(\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(k))}} : P_{*} \otimes_{D(\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}^{p}(k))}} P'_{*} \to P'_{*} \otimes_{D(\mathbf{Ab_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}^{p}(k))}} P_{*}$$

so that its restriction to $P_i \otimes P_j'$ maps to $P_j' \otimes P_i$ by multiplication by $(-1)^{ij}$ composed with the swap isomorphism for $\otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)}$. The swap map (7) and the derived tensor product of chain complexes (6) give $D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}^p(k))$ the structure of a symmetric monoidal category.

3. A¹-Spanier-Whitehead category of cellular smooth schemes

In this section, we define cellular schemes, which are closely related to the classical notion of schemes with an affine stratification, and we introduce the cellular Spanier-Whitehead category that we will use for the rest of the paper.

3.1. Cellular schemes. There are numerous useful definitions of a cellular scheme or cellular object of SH(k) available in the literature; see, e.g., [Ful84, Example 1.9.1], [EH16, Definition 1.16] [Tot14, Section 3], [Roz06, Def 3.4.1], [DI05, Definitions 2.1, 2.7, and 2.10], [MS20, Definitions 2.7 and 2.11], and [AFH20, Question 1]. We will use [MS20, Definition 2.11] and a slight modification adapted to our purposes.

The basic goal is to define a class of varieties that are built out of simple varieties (from a cohomological perspective) in such a way that their cohomology can be understood inductively. A first natural class of such varieties are those built out of affine spaces.

Definition 3.1. An n-dimensional smooth scheme X has a strict cellular structure if one of the following equivalent conditions holds:

(1) (cf. [Ful84, Example 1.9.1]) X admits a filtration by closed subschemes

$$\emptyset = \Sigma_{-1}(X) \subset \Sigma_0(X) \subset \Sigma_1(X) \subset \dots \subset \Sigma_{n-1}(X) \subset \Sigma_n(X) = X,$$

such that $\Sigma_i(X) \setminus \Sigma_{i-1}(X)$ is a (finite) disjoint union of schemes isomorphic to affine space \mathbb{A}^i .

(2) (cf. [MS20, Definition 2.7]) X admits a filtration by open subschemes

$$\emptyset = \Omega_{-1}(X) \subset \Omega_0(X) \subset \Omega_1(X) \subset \cdots \subset \Omega_{n-1}(X) \subset \Omega_n(X) = X,$$

such that $\Omega_i(X) \setminus \Omega_{i-1}(X)$ is a (finite) disjoint union of schemes isomorphic to affine space \mathbb{A}^{n-i} .

To pass between these conditions, let $\Omega_i(X) := X \setminus \Sigma_{n-i-1}(X)$ and $\Sigma_i(X) := X \setminus \Omega_{n-i-1}(X)$. A scheme with a strict cellular structure is called a strict cellular scheme.

A related notion is an affine stratification [EH16, Definition 1.16], where X is a disjoint union of finitely many locally closed subschemes U_i ("open strata"), each isomorphic to \mathbb{A}^{n_i} , whose closures \overline{U}_i are a disjoint union of strata U_j . If X has an affine stratification, then defining $\Sigma_j(X)$ to be the union of all open strata U_i of dimension at most j yields a strict cellular structure.

Example 3.2. Projective space \mathbb{P}^n has a strict cellular structure given by a full flag $\mathbb{P}^0 \subset \mathbb{P}^1 \subset \cdots \subset \mathbb{P}^n$ with $\Sigma_i(X) := \mathbb{P}^i$ and $\Omega_i(X) := \mathbb{P}^n \setminus \mathbb{P}^{n-i-1}$. Since the join $\mathbb{P}^i * \mathbb{P}^j \simeq_{\mathbb{A}^1} \mathbb{P}^{i+j+1}$, it is useful to think of $\Omega_i(X)$ as an open neighborhood of the i-skeleton. See [MS20, Remark 2.12] for more discussion of the topological notion of skeleta, CW-structure, and cellular structure.

Example 3.3. The class of schemes with a strict cellular structure contains many geometrically interesting examples. Grassmannians $\mathbb{G}(r,n)$ have an affine stratification by the Schubert cells [EH16, Section 4.1.2]. More generally, the Bruhat decomposition on the flag vareity G/B of a split semisimple algebraic group G with a Borel subgroup G defines a strict cellular structure [MS20, p. 12].

The following more general definition of Morel–Sawant allows the "cells" to be more general affine schemes.

Definition 3.4. ([MS20, Definition 2.11]) Let X be a smooth scheme over a field k. A cellular structure on X consists of an increasing filtration

$$\emptyset = \Omega_{-1}(X) \subsetneq \Omega_0(X) \subsetneq \Omega_1(X) \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \Omega_s(X) = X$$

by open subschemes such that for $i \in \{0, ..., s\}$, the reduced induced closed subscheme $X_i := \Omega_i(X) \setminus \Omega_{i-1}(X)$ of $\Omega_i(X)$ is k-smooth, affine, everywhere of codimension i and cohomologically trivial. A scheme with a cellular structure is called a **cellular scheme**.

Definition 3.5. A cellular structure on X is called simple if for every n, $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X_n) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^{b_n}$ for some non-negative integer b_n . A scheme with a simple cellular structure is called a simple cellular scheme.

The class of simple cellular schemes contains all schemes with a strict cellular structure (and hence with an affine stratification), since $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\mathbb{A}^i) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ and $H_{\mathrm{Nis}}^n(\mathbb{A}^i, M) = 0$ for all n > 0 and any strictly \mathbb{A}^l -invariant sheaf $M \in \mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^l}(k)$.

3.2. Cellular Spanier—Whitehead category. Let $\mathcal{H}(k)_*^{\text{cell}}$ denote the full subcategory of $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$ with objects consisting of pointed spaces of the form $\operatorname{Th}_X V$, where X is a smooth k-scheme admitting a cellular structure and V is a vector bundle on X. Note that $X_+ := X \coprod \operatorname{Spec} k$ is an object of $\mathcal{H}(k)_*^{\text{cell}}$ as $X_+ \cong \operatorname{Th}_{X_+} 0$. The product of two smooth schemes admitting cellular structures admits a canonical cellular structure (see [MS20, p.21] or Lemma 4.5). It follows that the symmetric monoidal structure \wedge on $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$ restricts to a symmetric monoidal structure on $\mathcal{H}(k)_*^{\text{cell}}$.

We now introduce the cellular Spanier-Whitehead category

$$\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k) := \mathcal{H}(k)_*^{\mathrm{cell}}[(\mathbb{P}^1)^{\otimes -1}].$$

Recall that we defined \mathbb{P}^1 to be the projective line pointed at ∞ . The pointed space \mathbb{P}^1 is in $\mathcal{H}(k)^{\mathrm{cell}}_*$ because $\mathbb{P}^1 = \mathrm{Th}_{\mathrm{Spec}\,k}\,\mathcal{O},$ so $\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k)$ is well-defined. Note that the canonical functor $\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k) \to \mathrm{SW}(k)$ is fully faithful. As noted in Section 2.1, since the cyclic permutation on \mathbb{P}^1 is the identity, the natural functor $\mathcal{H}(k)^{\mathrm{cell}}_* \to \mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k)$ is a symmetric monoidal functor. There is a canonical \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence

$$\operatorname{Th}_{X} V \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} \mathbb{P}(V \oplus \mathcal{O})/\mathbb{P}(V),$$

between the Thom space $\operatorname{Th}_X V := V/(V-0)$ and the quotient $\mathbb{P}(V \oplus \mathcal{O})/\mathbb{P}(V)$, where \mathcal{O} denotes the trivial bundle. It follows that there is a canonical isomorphism $\operatorname{Th}_X(V \oplus \mathcal{O}) \cong \mathbb{P}^1 \wedge \operatorname{Th}_X V$ in $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$ [MV99, Prop 2.17]. This can be used to extend the Thom space construction to a functor

Th:
$$K_0(X) \to SW(k)$$
 Th $V := (Th_X(V \oplus \mathcal{O}^r), -r)$

where r denotes a positive integer such that $V \oplus \mathcal{O}^r$ is represented by a vector bundle. Indeed, a path in the K-theory groupoid K(X) between vector bundles V and W produces a canonical isomorphism $\operatorname{Th}_X V \simeq \operatorname{Th}_X W$ in $\operatorname{SH}(k)$ [Ayo07, Scholie 1.4.2(2)]. This isomorphism lies in $\operatorname{SW}(k)$ because the functor $\operatorname{SW}(k) \to \operatorname{SH}(k)$ is fully faithful on Thom spaces. For V a vector bundle (of non-negative rank), there is a canonical isomorphism between the Thom space functor Th just defined applied to V and the usual $\operatorname{Th}_X V$, justifying the abuse of notation. When X admits a simple cellular structure, the Thom space functor Th factors through $\operatorname{SW}^{\operatorname{cell}}(k) \to \operatorname{SW}(k)$, defining $\operatorname{Th}: K_0(X) \to \operatorname{SW}^{\operatorname{cell}}(k)$.

Lemma 3.6. Let X be a smooth projective scheme over k and suppose that X admits a cellular structure. Then X_+ is dualizable in $SW^{cell}(k)$.

Proof. Since X is smooth and projective over k, we have that X_+ is dualizable in SH(k)with dual $\mathbb{D}X_+ \simeq \text{Th}(-TX)$, where TX denotes the tangent bundle of X [Rio05, Théorème 2.2]. Let $\mathbb{D}X_+$ in $SW^{cell}(k)$ denote Th(-TX) by a slight abuse of notation. The evaluation and coevaluation maps ϵ and η in SH(k) of Definition 2.1 have unique preimages under $\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k) \to \mathrm{SW}(k) \overset{\cdot}{\to} \mathrm{SH}(k) \text{ because both functors are fully faithful on } \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k)}, \ X_+, \ \mathbb{D}X,$ $X_+ \wedge \mathbb{D}X$, etc.

4. The cellular homology of Morel-Sawant on cellular Thom spaces

Morel and Sawant [MS20, §2.3] define the cellular A¹-chain complex and corresponding cellular A¹-homology for a cellular scheme, and show these are functors between appropriate categories [MS20, Corollary 2.43] preserving monoidal structures [MS20, Lemma 2.31]. We generalize these definitions in a straightforward manner to include Thom spaces, which will result in a symmetric monoidal functor

$$\tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_*:\mathcal{H}(k)^{\operatorname{cell}}_*\to D(\mathbf{Ab}^{\mathfrak{p}}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$$

(see Proposition 4.7).

Let V be a vector bundle of rank $r \geq 0$ on X in \mathbf{Sm}_k and

$$\emptyset = \Omega_{-1} \subsetneq \Omega_0 \subsetneq \Omega_1 \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \Omega_s = X$$

be a cellular structure on X, so $\operatorname{Th}_X V$ is an object of $\operatorname{SW}^{\operatorname{cell}}(k)$. Let $X_i = \Omega_i \setminus \Omega_{i-1} = 0$ $\coprod_{\mathfrak{m}\in M_i} X_{i\mathfrak{m}}$ be the decomposition of X_i into connected components. Morel-Voevodsky Purity [MV99, Theorem 2.23] provides a canonical weak equivalence

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_i} V / \operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i-1}} V \simeq_{\mathbb{A}^1} \operatorname{Th}_{X_i} (V + \nu_i)$$

where v_i is the normal bundle of the closed immersion $X_i \hookrightarrow \Omega_i$ of smooth k-schemes. Consider the cofibration sequence

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i-1}}V \to \operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_i}V \to \operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_i}V/\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i-1}}V,$$

and its long exact sequence of reduced A¹-homology sheaves

$$\begin{split} \cdots & \to \widetilde{H}_{n}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i-1}}V) \to \widetilde{H}_{n}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i}}V) \to \widetilde{H}_{n}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i}}V/\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i-1}}V) \to \widetilde{H}_{n-1}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{i-1}}V) \to \cdots \\ & \hspace{5cm} \downarrow \simeq \\ & \hspace{5cm} \widetilde{H}_{n}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_{i}}(V+\nu_{i})) \end{split}$$

which gives the boundary map ∂_n as the composite

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{H}_{n+r}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_n}(V+\nu_n)) &\to \widetilde{H}_{n+r-1}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_{n-1}}V) \to \widetilde{H}_{n+r-1}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{\Omega_n}V) \to \widetilde{H}_{n+r-1}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_{n-1}}(V+\nu_{n-1})). \end{split}$$
 For $n \geq 0$, let

$$\tilde{C}_{n+r}^{\mathrm{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_X V) := \tilde{C}_{n+r}^{\mathrm{cell}}(X,V) := \widetilde{H}_{n+r}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_n}(V + \nu_n))$$

with boundary maps ∂_n as above be the (shifted, reduced) cellular \mathbb{A}^1 -chain complex on (X, V). With this notation, we record the cellular structure of X also when we write $\mathrm{Th}_X V$. Note also that $\operatorname{Th}_X \mathfrak 0 \simeq X_+$ and $\tilde C_*^{\operatorname{cell}} \operatorname{Th}_X \mathfrak 0 \simeq C_*^{\operatorname{cell}} X$ with $C_*^{\operatorname{cell}} X$ defined by Morel and Sawant [MS20, Section 2.3].

Remark 4.1. Suppose X in \mathbf{Sm}_k is equipped with a simple cellular structure. By definition, $\tilde{C}_n^{\mathrm{cell}}(\mathrm{Th}_X V) \cong \widetilde{H}_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathrm{Th}_{X_{n-r}}(V+\nu_n)).$ By [MS20, Lemma 2.13], we may choose a trivialization of $V+\nu_n$. Such a choice defines an \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence $\operatorname{Th}_{X_{n-r}}(V+\nu_n)\simeq (X_{n-r})_+\wedge (\mathbf{A}^n/\mathbf{A}^n-\{0\})$. By Morel's computation (5), we have $\widetilde{H}_n^{\mathbb{A}^1}((X_{n-r})_+\wedge \mathbf{A}^n/\mathbf{A}^n-\{0\}))\cong H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X_{n-r})\otimes \underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}}$ for $n \geq 1$ and $\widetilde{H}_n^{\mathbb{A}^l}((X_{n-r})_+ \wedge \mathbf{A}^n/\mathbf{A}^n - \{0\})) \cong H_0^{\mathbb{A}^l}(X_{n-r})$ for n = 0. Since the cellular structure on X is simple, $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^l}(X_i) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{b_i}$. Thus we have

$$\tilde{C}_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\mathrm{Th}_X\,V)\cong \begin{cases} (\underline{K}_i^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_{i-r}} & i>0\\ \mathbb{Z}^{b_{-r}} & i=0. \end{cases}$$

If the cellular structure is additionally strict, then $\Omega_i \setminus \Omega_{i-1} \cong \coprod_{j=1}^{b_i} \mathbf{A}^{n-i}$. In other words, the integer b_i corresponds to the number of connected components of $\Omega_i \setminus \Omega_{i-1}$.

 $\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{Remark} \ \mathbf{4.2.} \ \mathrm{More} \ \mathrm{generally,} \ \mathrm{for} \ X \ \mathrm{in} \ \mathbf{Sm}_k \ \mathrm{equipped} \ \mathrm{with} \ \mathrm{a} \ \mathrm{cellular} \ \mathrm{structure,} \ \tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_n(\mathrm{Th}_X \ V) \cong \\ H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X_{n-r}) \otimes \underline{K}^{\mathrm{MW}}_n. \ \mathrm{Thus} \ \tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_X \ V) \ \mathrm{is} \ \mathrm{in} \ D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)). \end{array}$

To show functoriality of $\tilde{C}_*^{\rm cell}$, Morel and Sawant introduce the notion of a strict \mathbb{A}^1 -resolution [MS20, Definition 2.33] and we will need this notion as well.

Proposition 4.3. Let Th_X V be an object of $\mathcal{H}_*^{cell}(k)$. There exists a unique morphism

$$\varphi_X: \tilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_X V) \to \tilde{C}_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_X V)$$

in $D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ that is a strict \mathbb{A}^1 -resolution in the sense that the functor

$$D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)) \to \mathbf{Ab}$$
 $C_* \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{D_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)}(\tilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\operatorname{Th}_X V), C_*)$

is represented by $\tilde{C}_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_X V)$.

Proof. The proof of [MS20, Proposition 2.37] extends to this level of generality. \Box

Corollary 4.4. Let $f: \operatorname{Th}_X V \to \operatorname{Th}_Y W$ be a morphism in $\mathcal{H}(k)^{\operatorname{cell}}_*$. Then there exists a canonical chain homotopy class of morphisms

$$\tilde{C}_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(f) : \tilde{C}_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_X V) \to \tilde{C}_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_Y W)$$

 $\mathit{in}\ \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbf{Ch}_{\geq 0}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))}(\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_X\,V),\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_Y\,W)).$

Proof. Since $\tilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^l}(-): \mathcal{H}_*(k) \to D_{\mathbb{A}^l}(k)$ is a functor (see [Mor12, p. 161]), the morphism f induces a map $\tilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^l}(f): \tilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_X V) \to \tilde{C}_*^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_Y W)$. Thus by Proposition 4.3, there is a map $\tilde{C}_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(f): C_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_X V) \to \tilde{C}_*^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_Y W)$ in $D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^l}(k))$ such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \tilde{C}_{*}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(\operatorname{Th}_{X}V) & \xrightarrow{\tilde{C}_{*}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(f)} \tilde{C}_{*}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y}W) \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \tilde{C}_{*}^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_{X}V) & \xrightarrow{\tilde{C}_{*}^{\operatorname{cell}}(f)} \tilde{C}_{*}^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y}W) \end{array}$$

commutes. As noted previously, $\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_X V)$ is a bounded complex of projective objects of $\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)$. It follows that $\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))}(\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_X V), \tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_Y W))$ is the group of chain homotopy classes of maps in $\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbf{Ch}_{\geq 0}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))}(\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_X V), \tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathrm{Th}_Y W))$.

The following is the generalization of [MS20, Lemma 2.31] to include Thom spaces. The proof was omitted in [MS20], so we include one for completeness.

Lemma 4.5 (Künneth Formula). Suppose that X and Y are smooth schemes equipped with cellular structures, and let \mathfrak{p}_1 and \mathfrak{p}_2 be the projections of $X\times_k Y$ to X and Y, respectively. Let V and W be vector bundles on X and Y, respectively. Then there exists a cellular structure on $X\times Y$ and a natural isomorphism in $D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$

$$(8) \qquad \qquad \tilde{C}_{*}^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_{X}V) \otimes_{\operatorname{D}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}^{p}(k))} \tilde{C}_{*}^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y}W) \to \tilde{C}_{*}^{\operatorname{cell}}(\operatorname{Th}_{X \times Y}(p_{1}^{*}V + p_{2}^{*}W)).$$

Proof. Let r and s be the (nonnegative) ranks of V and W, respectively. Let ν_i and μ_i denote the normal bundles of $X_i = \Omega_i(X) \setminus \Omega_{i-1}(X) \hookrightarrow \Omega_i(X)$ and $Y_i = \Omega_i(Y) \setminus \Omega_{i-1}(Y) \hookrightarrow \Omega_i(Y)$, respectively.

Note that there is a natural shifted cellular structure on $X \times Y$ equipped with $p_1^*V + p_2^*W \in K_0(X \times Y)$, where the open strata are $\Omega_n(X \times Y) = \bigcup_{i+j=n} (\Omega_i(X) \times \Omega_j(Y))$ and the closed strata are $(X \times Y)_n := \Omega_n(X \times Y) \setminus \Omega_{n-1}(X \times Y) = \bigsqcup_{i+j=n} X_i \times Y_j$. The normal bundle ξ_n on the inclusion $(X \times Y)_n \hookrightarrow \Omega_n(X \times Y)$ is the disjoint union of the normal bundle on each $X_i \times Y_j$, namely $\xi_n = \bigsqcup_{i+j=n} (p_1^*\nu_i + p_2^*\mu_i)$.

We compare the degree n + r + s terms of the two sides of (8). The degree n + r + s term of the right hand side of (8) is

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{H}_{n+r+s}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{(X\times Y)_n}(\mathfrak{p}_1^*V+\mathfrak{p}_2^*W+\xi_n)) \\ & \cong \widetilde{H}_{n+r+s}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{\sqcup_{i+j=n}X_i\times Y_j}(\mathfrak{p}_1^*V+\mathfrak{p}_2^*W+\sqcup_{i+j=n}(\mathfrak{p}_1^*\nu_i+\mathfrak{p}_2^*\mu_j))) \\ & \cong \widetilde{H}_{n+r+s}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\bigvee_{i+j=n}\operatorname{Th}_{X_i\times Y_j}(\mathfrak{p}_1^*V+\mathfrak{p}_2^*W+\mathfrak{p}_1^*\nu_i+\mathfrak{p}_2^*\mu_j)) \\ & \cong \bigoplus_{i+j=n}\widetilde{H}_{n+r+s}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_i\times Y_j}(\mathfrak{p}_1^*V+\mathfrak{p}_2^*W+\mathfrak{p}_1^*\nu_i+\mathfrak{p}_2^*\mu_j)). \end{split}$$

The degree n + r + s term of the left hand side of (8) is

$$\bigoplus_{i+j=n+r+s} \tilde{C}_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\mathrm{Th}_X\,V) \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{\!1}}(k)} \tilde{C}_j^{\mathrm{cell}}(\mathrm{Th}_Y\,W) \cong \bigoplus_{i+j=n} \widetilde{H}_{i+r}^{\mathbb{A}^{\!1}}(\mathrm{Th}_{X_i}(V+\nu_i)) \otimes_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{\!1}}(k)} \widetilde{H}_{j+s}^{\mathbb{A}^{\!1}}(\mathrm{Th}_{Y_j}(W+\mu_j)).$$

For any X' and Y' with $V' \in K_0(X')$ and $W' \in K_0(Y')$, we have a natural equivalence $\operatorname{Th}_{X'}(V') \times \operatorname{Th}_{Y'}(W') \to \operatorname{Th}_{X' \times Y'}(V' \times W')$. We therefore have an induced map

$$(9) \qquad \widetilde{H}_{i+r}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_{i}}(V+\nu_{i})) \otimes_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Ab}}_{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(k)} \widetilde{H}_{j+s}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y_{j}}(W+\mu_{j})) \\ \rightarrow \widetilde{H}_{i+j+r+s}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_{i}\times Y_{j}}(p_{1}^{*}V+p_{2}^{*}W+p_{1}^{*}\nu_{i}+p_{2}^{*}\mu_{j})).$$

Unwinding the definitions and using the functoriality of the Thom space, (9) induces a map of chain complexes (8), i.e. is compatible with the differentials.

We claim that for i+j=n the map (9) is an isomorphism. By [MS20, Lemma 2.13], both $V+\nu_i$ and $W+\mu_j$ represent trivial elements of $K_0(X_i)$ and $K_0(Y_j)$ respectively. Choosing trivializations induces a trivialization of $p_1^*V+p_2^*W+p_1^*\nu_i+p_2^*\mu_j$ on $X_i\times Y_j$. These trivializations and the suspension isomorphism for \mathbb{A}^1 -homology [Mor12, Remark 6.30] induce the following isomorphisms:

$$\widetilde{H}_{i+r}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_i}(V+\nu_i)) \cong \widetilde{H}_{i+r}^{\mathbb{A}^1}((X_i)_+ \wedge (\mathbb{G}_{\mathfrak{m}})^{\wedge (i+r)} \wedge (S^1)^{\wedge (i+r)}) \cong \widetilde{H}_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}((X_i)_+ \wedge (\mathbb{G}_{\mathfrak{m}})^{\wedge (i+r)})$$

$$\widetilde{H}_{j+s}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y_j}(W+\mu_j)) \cong \widetilde{H}_{j+s}^{\mathbb{A}^l}((Y_j)_+ \wedge (\mathbb{G}_{\mathfrak{m}})^{\wedge (j+s)} \wedge (S^1)^{\wedge (j+s)}) \cong \widetilde{H}_0^{\mathbb{A}^l}((Y_j)_+ \wedge (\mathbb{G}_{\mathfrak{m}})^{\wedge (j+s)})$$

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{H}_{i+j+r+s}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\operatorname{Th}_{X_i\times Y_j}(p_1^*V+p_2^*W+p_1^*\nu_i+p_2^*\mu_j))\\ &\cong \widetilde{H}_{i+j+r+s}^{\mathbb{A}^1}((X_i\times Y_j)_+\wedge(\mathbb{G}_{\mathfrak{m}})^{\wedge(i+j+r+s)}\wedge(S^1)^{\wedge(i+j+r+s)})\\ &\cong \widetilde{H}_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}((X_i\times Y_j)_+\wedge(\mathbb{G}_{\mathfrak{m}})^{\wedge(i+j+r+s)}). \end{split}$$

Note that $\widetilde{H}_0^{\mathbb{A}^l}$ takes a sheaf of sets to the free strictly \mathbb{A}^l -invariant sheaf of abelian groups on the sheaf of sets, and thus transforms \wedge to \otimes . The claim follows. The differentials are as claimed by the usual Puppe sequence argument.

Lemma 4.6. Suppose that X and Y are smooth schemes equipped with cellular structures, and let p_1 and p_2 be the projections of $X \times_k Y$ to X and Y, respectively. Let V and W be vector bundles on X and Y, respectively. Then $\tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_*$ respects the symmetry maps $\tau_{\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{cell}}_*(k)}(\operatorname{Th}_X V, \operatorname{Th}_Y W)$ and $\tau_{D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\lambda^1}(k))}$ in the sense that the diagram

$$(10) \qquad \tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}(\operatorname{Th}_{X} V) \otimes \tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y} W) \xrightarrow{\cong} \tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}(\operatorname{Th}_{X \times Y} p_{1}^{*}V + p_{2}^{*}W) \\ \downarrow^{\tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}(\tau_{\mathcal{H}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}})} \\ \tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y} W) \otimes \tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}(\operatorname{Th}_{X} V) \xrightarrow{\cong} \tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_{*}(\operatorname{Th}_{Y \times X} p_{2}^{*}W + p_{1}^{*}V)$$

commutes.

Proof. With appropriate orientation data, (10) becomes a sum of diagrams of the form

where $i+j=n,\ i,j\geq 1$, along with similar diagrams where i or j is 0 and the appropriate factors of $\underline{K}^{\mathrm{MW}}_*$ are omitted. In (11) the map $\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\tau_{\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*})$ is induced by applying $\widetilde{H}^{\mathbb{A}^1}_n$ to a swap map on spaces of the form $(X_i)_+ \wedge S^{2i,i} \wedge (Y_j)_+ \wedge S^{2j,j}$ with X_i and Y_j cohomologically trivial. This map is multiplication by the swap map $S^{2i,i} \wedge S^{2j,j} \to S^{2j,j} \wedge S^{2i,i}$ in $\mathrm{GW}(k)$. This element of $\mathrm{GW}(k)$ equals $\langle -1 \rangle^{ij}$ by [Mor12, Lemma 3.43(2)], which states that $\tau(S^{p_1,q_1},S^{p_2,q_2})$ represents $(-1)^{(p_1-q_1)(p_2-q_2)}(-\langle -1 \rangle)^{q_1q_2}$ in $\mathrm{GW}(k)$. By definition, the map $\tau_{\mathrm{D}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{i,l}(k))}$ is multiplication by $(-1)^{ij}$ times the canonical swap on a tensor product (see (7)).

The map \mathfrak{m}_1 is the tensor product of the isomorphism $H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X_{i-r}) \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(Y_{j-s}) \to H_0^{\mathbb{A}^1}(X_{i-r} \times Y_{j-s})$ with the isomorphism $\underline{K}_i^{\mathrm{MW}} \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} \underline{K}_j^{\mathrm{MW}} \to \underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}}$ induced by multiplication on Milnor–Witt K-theory. A similar statement holds for \mathfrak{m}_2 where the factors are reversed. Since Milnor–Witt K-theory is $-\langle -1 \rangle$ graded commutative [Mor12, Corollary 3.8], it follows that \mathfrak{m}_2 is a canonical swap on a tensor product to reorder the factors followed by $(-\langle -1 \rangle)^{ij}$ times \mathfrak{m}_1 . Since $(-1)^{ij}(-\langle -1 \rangle)^{ij} = \langle -1 \rangle^{ij}$, the claim follows.

Proposition 4.7. The functor $\tilde{C}^{\text{cell}}_* : \mathcal{H}(k)^{\text{cell}}_* \to D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ is symmetric monoidal.

Proof. This follows from Corollary 4.4, Lemma 4.5, and Lemma 4.6.

5. Spanier-Whitehead cellular complex

5.1. **Definitions and basic properties.** Recall we defined $\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k) := \mathcal{H}(k)^{\mathrm{cell}}_*[(\mathbb{P}^1)^{\otimes -1}]$ in Section 3.2. Since $\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*$ is a symmetric monoidal functor and the cyclic permulation of $\mathbb{P}^1 \otimes \mathbb{P}^1 \otimes \mathbb{P}^1$ is the identity in $\mathcal{H}(k)_*$, the cyclic permutation of $\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathbb{P}^1) \otimes \tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathbb{P}^1) \otimes \tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathbb{P}^1)$ is the identity in $D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$. Denote the corresponding Spanier–Whitehead category (as in Definition 2.5) by

$$D^{\mathrm{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)) := D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k)) [\tilde{C}^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(\mathbb{P}^1)^{\otimes -1}].$$

By [MS20, Corollary 2.51], the complex $C_*^{\text{cell}}(\mathbb{P}^1) \simeq \tilde{C}_*^{\text{cell}}(\mathbb{P}^1_+)$ is represented by the complex

$$\underline{K}_1^{\mathrm{MW}} \stackrel{0}{\to} \mathbb{Z}.$$

Thus $\tilde{C}^{\operatorname{cell}}_*(\mathbb{P}^1) \simeq \underline{K}^{MW}_1[1]$ and we have

$$D^{\mathrm{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}^p(k)) \simeq D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}^p(k))[(\underline{K}_1^{MW}[1])^{\otimes -1}].$$

Definition 5.1. Define

$$C^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}: \mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k) \to D^{\mathrm{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\scriptscriptstyle{\mathbb{A}}1}(k))$$

to be the symmetric monoidal functor obtained by applying Proposition 2.6 to the symmetric monoidal functor $\tilde{C}^{\rm cell}_*: \mathcal{H}(k)^{\rm cell}_* \to D(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ of Proposition 4.7.

Corollary 5.2. Let X be smooth and projective over a field k and suppose that X admits a cellular structure. For any endomorphism $\phi \colon X \to X$ and any integer $m \geq 1$, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(C^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}})) = C^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(\operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}})).$$

Proof. We may assume $\mathfrak{m}=1$. By Proposition 3.6, X is dualizable in $\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k)$. The result follows by applying Proposition 2.4 to the symmetric monoidal functor $C^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}$.

Proposition 5.3. The morphism

$$(13) C^{\mathrm{SW-cell}} : \mathrm{End}(\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{SW}^{\mathrm{cell}}(k)}) \to \mathrm{End}(\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{D^{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}^{p}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(k))})$$

is an isomorphism, and both sides are isomorphic to GW(k).

Proof. We compute $C^{\text{SW-cell}}(1_{\text{SW}^{\text{cell}}(k)}) = C^{\text{SW-cell}}(\text{Spec}\,k_+) = \mathbb{Z}$. By the identification (12), we obtain

$$\operatorname{End}(\mathbf{1}_{\mathsf{D^{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}^{\mathfrak{p}}_{\mathfrak{s}^{1}}(k))})$$

$$= \operatorname*{colim}_{n>0} \operatorname{End}_{D(\operatorname{\mathbf{Ab}}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))}(\underline{K}_1^{MW}[1]^{\otimes n})$$

$$\cong \underset{n>0}{\operatorname{colim}} \operatorname{End}_{D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(k))}(\underline{\mathsf{K}}_{n}^{\mathsf{MW}}[n]) \qquad (\text{by [Mor12, Theorem 3.37]})$$

$$\cong \underset{n\geq 0}{\text{colim}} \operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(\mathbb{k})}(\underline{K}_{n}^{MW}) \qquad (\text{since } \underline{K}_{n}^{MW} \text{ is projective by } [Mor12, Theorem 3.37])$$

$$\cong \operatorname{colim}_{n > 0} \operatorname{GW}(k)$$
 (by Lemma 2.7)

 $\cong GW(k)$.

We have $\operatorname{End}(1_{\operatorname{SW}^{\operatorname{cell}}(k)}) = \operatorname{colim}_{n \geq 0} \operatorname{End}(S^{2n,n}) \cong \operatorname{GW}(k)$ by [Mor12, Cor 6.43]. Since $\operatorname{H}^{\mathbb{A}^1}_*$ respects the $\operatorname{GW}(k)$ -module structure on $\operatorname{End}(S^{2n,n})$, so does $C^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}$. Thus the map (13) becomes the identity map on $\operatorname{GW}(k)$ under the given isomorphisms.

5.2. Endomorphisms, traces, and characteristic polynomials. Given an endomorphism ϕ of a dualizable object in $D^{SW}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$, we can use the categorial trace of ϕ and its powers to define a logarithmic characteristic polynomial of ϕ , which, using Proposition 5.3, is a power series with coefficients in GW(k).

Definition 5.4. The logarithmic characteristic polynomial of an endomorphism ϕ of a dualizable object in $D^{SW}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ is the power series defined by

$$\operatorname{dlog} P_{\phi}(t) := \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} -\operatorname{Tr}(\phi^m) t^{m-1} \in \operatorname{GW}(k)[[t]].$$

We use the convention that dlog indicates a formal logarithmic derivative, while $\frac{d}{dt} \log$ denotes the derivative of the logarithm.

This definition is motivated by the usual definition of the characteristic polynomial of a square matrix.

Definition 5.5. For any commutative ring R and endomorphism φ of R^n represented by a matrix A, the characteristic polynomial $P_{\varphi}(t)$ is defined as $P_{\varphi}(t) := \det(1 - At)$.

We then have the following elementary relation.

Lemma 5.6. Let R be a commutative ring and let $A: R^n \to R^n$ be an endomorphism. Then

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\log(\mathsf{P}_\mathsf{A}(\mathsf{t})) = \sum_{\mathsf{m}=1}^{\infty} -\mathrm{Tr}(\mathsf{A}^\mathsf{m})\mathsf{t}^{\mathsf{m}-1}.$$

Proof. We will show that these two power series agree by comparing each coefficient. The coefficient of t^i on each side is a polynomial (with integer coefficients) in the entries of the matrix representing the endomorphism A. To show that these integer polynomials agree, it suffices to prove that they take the same value on every complex number. In other words, it suffices to prove the theorem when $R = \mathbb{C}$. In this case, we may assume that the matrix of A is upper-triangular with diagonal entries c_1, \ldots, c_n (since trace is independent of a choice of basis). We have $P_A(t) = \prod_{i=1}^n (1-tc_i)$ and $Tr(A^m) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i^m$, which gives

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt} \log(P_A(t)) &= \sum_{i=1}^n \left(-\sum_{m=1}^\infty c_i^m t^{m-1} \right) \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^\infty \left(-\sum_{i=1}^n c_i^m \right) t^{m-1} \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^\infty -\operatorname{Tr}(A^m) t^{m-1}. \end{split}$$

Let C_* in $\mathbf{Ch}_{\geq 0}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ be a bounded complex such that $C_n \cong (\underline{K}_n^{MW})^{b_n}$ for some nonnegative integers b_n . For example, we may take $C_* = C_*^{\mathrm{cell}}(X)$ for a smooth simple cellular scheme X (Remark 4.1). Let N be an integer. Let t be a nonnegative integer such that $C_n = 0$ for $n \geq t$. Define

$$\mathbb{D}(C_*,N) := [\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ch}_{>0}(\mathbf{Ab}(k))}(C_*,\underline{K}_t^{MW}[t]), -t-N].$$

By Lemma 2.7, $\mathbb{D}(C_*, N)$ is a representative for an object in $D^{\mathrm{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$.

Proposition 5.7. The object $\mathbb{D}(C_*, N)$ is a dual object to (C_*, N) in $D^{SW}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ in the sense of Definition 2.1.

Proof. Define $\epsilon \colon \mathbb{D}(C_*, N) \otimes (C_*, N) \to (\mathbb{Z}, 0)$ to be the map in $D^{SW}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ associated to the natural evaluation map

$$\varepsilon[t]: \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_*, \underline{K}^{MW}_t[t]) \otimes C_* \to \underline{K}^{MW}_t[t] \cong \underline{K}^{MW}_1[1]^{\otimes t}$$

in $\mathbf{Ch}_{>0}(\mathbf{Ab}(\mathbf{k}))$.

Define a map $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n,C_n)\otimes \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}}\to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n,C_n\otimes_{\mathbb{A}^l}\underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}})$ by $\varphi\otimes\alpha\mapsto\varphi_\alpha$ where $\varphi_\alpha(c)=\varphi(c)\otimes\alpha$. Since $C_n\cong (\underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_n},\ \underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}}\otimes_{\mathbb{A}^l}\underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}}\cong \underline{K}_{n+t}^{\mathrm{MW}}$ [Mor12, Theorem 3.37], and $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(\underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}},\underline{K}_{n+t}^{\mathrm{MW}})\cong \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}}$ by Lemma 2.7, we find that $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n,C_n\otimes_{\mathbb{A}^l}\underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}})$ is strictly \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant. (Note that $t-n \geq 1$ by construction.) This defines a map

$$f_n: \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, C_n) \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}} \to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, C_n \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}})$$

By similar reasoning, we have a map

$$g_{\mathfrak{n}}: \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_{\mathfrak{n}}, \underline{K}_{t}^{\mathrm{MW}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^{1}} C_{\mathfrak{n}} \to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_{\mathfrak{n}}, \underline{K}_{t}^{\mathrm{MW}} \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^{1}} C_{\mathfrak{n}})$$

Since t>n, the map g is an isomorphism. (This can be seen using the isomorphisms $C_n\cong (\underline{K}_n^{MW})^{b_n}, \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(\underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}},\underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}})\cong \underline{K}_{t-n}^{\mathrm{MW}},$ and $\underline{K}_{t-n}^{\mathrm{MW}}\otimes_{\mathbb{A}^l}\underline{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}}\cong \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}},$ etc.) Let

$$h_n: \underline{K}_t^{MW} \to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, C_n) \otimes \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}}$$

denote the map defined by $\mathfrak{a} \mapsto 1_{C_{\mathfrak{n}}} \otimes \mathfrak{a}.$

The composite $\tau(n, t - n) \circ g_n^{-1} \circ \tau(n, t) \circ f_n \circ h_n$ defines a map

$$\begin{split} \underline{K}_t^{MW} &\to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, C_n) \otimes \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}} \\ &\to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, C_n \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}}) \xrightarrow{(-\langle -1 \rangle)^{\mathrm{nt}}} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}} \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} C_n) \\ &\to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} C_n \xrightarrow{(-\langle -1 \rangle)^{\mathrm{n(t-n)}}} C_n \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_n, \underline{K}_t^{\mathrm{MW}}) \end{split}$$

where $\tau(i,j)$ is the swap $a\otimes b\mapsto (-\langle -1\rangle)^{ij}b\otimes a$. The sign comes from the graded $(-\langle -1\rangle)$ commutativity of $\underline{\mathsf{K}}^{\mathrm{MW}}_*$. See [Mor12, Corollary 3.8]. Taking the product of the $\tau(n,t-n)\circ g_n^{-1}\circ \tau(n,t)\circ f_n\circ h_n$ over n defines a map

$$\eta[t]: \underline{K}^{MW}_t[t] \to C_* \otimes_{\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(C_*, \underline{K}^{MW}_t[t]).$$

Let $\eta\colon (\mathbb{Z},0)\to (C_*,N)\otimes \mathbb{D}(C_*,N)$ be the associated map in $D^{\mathrm{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$. We leave checking that these maps satisfy the desired properties as in Definition 2.1 to the reader. \square

Let C_* in $\mathbf{Ch}_{\geq 0}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ be a bounded complex such that $C_i \cong (\underline{K}_i^{MW})^{b_i}$ for some nonnegative integers b_i . Let $\phi: C_* \to C_*$ be a morphism in $D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$. As in the proof of Corollary 4.4, the morphism φ is represented by a map of complexes, so we have maps $\phi_i: (K_i^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_i} \to (K_i^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_i}$. Such a ϕ_i is determined by an $b_i \times b_i$ square matrix of elements of $\mathrm{Hom}(K_i^{\mathrm{MW}}, K_i^{\mathrm{MW}}) \cong \mathrm{GW}(k)$ (Lemma 2.7). The trace of such a matrix is denoted Tr and defined to be the sum of the diagonal entries.

Proposition 5.8. Let C_* in $\mathbf{Ch}_{\geq 0}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ be a bounded complex such that $C_n \cong (\underline{K}_n^{MW})^{b_n}$ for some nonnegative integers b_n . Let $\phi: C_* \to C_*$ be a morphism in $D(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$. The

categorical trace of the corresponding map ϕ in $D^{\mathrm{SW}}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ is computed as

$$\mathrm{Tr}(\phi) = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle -1 \rangle^i \, \mathrm{Tr}(\phi_i).$$

Proof. Let ϵ, η be the evaluation and coevaluation maps as in Proposition 5.7, and τ the symmetry isomorphism in the category $D^{SW}(\mathbf{Ab}^p_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$ as in (7). Then $\mathrm{Tr}(\phi)$ is the composition

$$1 \xrightarrow{\eta} (C_*, N) \otimes \mathbb{D}(C_*, N) \xrightarrow{\varphi \otimes 1} (C_*, N) \otimes \mathbb{D}(C_*, N) \xrightarrow{\tau} \mathbb{D}(C_*, N) \otimes (C_*, N) \xrightarrow{\epsilon} 1.$$

This map is represented by a map

$$\begin{split} \underline{K}_t^{MW}[t] &\to C_* \otimes_{\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(C_*, \underline{K}_t^{MW}[t]) \xrightarrow{\phi \otimes 1} C_* \otimes_{\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(C_*, \underline{K}_t^{MW}[t]) \\ &\to \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(C_*, \underline{K}_t^{MW}[t]) \otimes_{\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))} C_* \to \underline{K}_t^{MW}[t] \end{split}$$

in $\mathbf{Ch}_{\geq 0}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))$, where t is as in Proposition 5.7 and its proof. This map is concentrated in degree t. The degree t sheaves of the complexes $C_* \otimes_{\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(C_*, \underline{K}_t^{MW}[t])$ and $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(C_*, \underline{K}_t^{MW}[t]) \otimes_{\mathbf{Ch}(\mathbf{Ab}_{\mathbb{A}^1}(k))} C_*$ are isomorphic to a direct sum over n of $C_n \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^1} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(C_n, \underline{K}_t^{MW})$, leading to an expression for $\mathrm{Tr}(\phi)$ as the sum over n of maps

$$(14) \qquad \underline{K}_{t}^{MW} \to C_{\mathfrak{n}} \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^{1}} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_{\mathfrak{n}}, \underline{K}_{t}^{MW}) \xrightarrow{\phi \otimes 1} C_{\mathfrak{n}} \otimes_{\mathbb{A}^{1}} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_{\mathfrak{n}}, \underline{K}_{t}^{MW}) \\ \xrightarrow{(-1)^{\mathfrak{n}}} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbf{Ab}(k)}(C_{\mathfrak{n}}, \underline{K}_{t}^{MW}) \otimes C_{\mathfrak{n}} \to \underline{K}_{t}^{MW}.$$

Tracing through the definitions of Proposition 5.7, the composite (14) is

$$(-\langle -1\rangle)^{tn}(-\langle -1\rangle)^{(t-n)n}(-1)^n\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_n)=\langle -1\rangle^n\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_n).$$
 Thus
$$\operatorname{Tr}(\phi)=\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\langle -1\rangle^i\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_n) \text{ as claimed.}$$

5.3. Cellular Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula. Hoyois [Hoy15] proves a quadratic refinement of the Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula in the setting of stable motivic homotopy theory, in the sense of relating the trace of an endomorphism $\varphi: X \to X$ of a smooth proper scheme to the fixed points of φ . The machinery of Morel–Sawant and the above give an expression for the trace in terms of traces of matrices of elements of GW(k) for simple cellular X:

Theorem 5.9. Let X be a smooth projective scheme over a field k and suppose that X admits a simple cellular structure. Let $\varphi \colon X \to X$ be an endomorphism, and let $C^{\operatorname{cell}}_*(\varphi) \colon C^{\operatorname{cell}}_*(X) \to C^{\operatorname{cell}}_*(X)$ be any representative of the canonical chain homotopy class. We have the equality

$$\mathrm{Tr}(\phi) = \sum_i \langle -1 \rangle^i \, \mathrm{Tr}(C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi))$$

in GW(k).

Note that with our notational conventions, $C_*^{\text{cell}}(X) \simeq \tilde{C}_*^{\text{cell}}(X_+) \simeq C_*^{\text{SW-cell}}(X)$.

Proof. By Lemma 3.6, the scheme X is fully dualizable and $\text{Tr}(\varphi)$ is a well-defined element of GW(k). By Proposition 5.3, there is an equality $\text{Tr}(\varphi) = C_*^{\text{SW-cell}}(\text{Tr}(\varphi))$. By Corollary 5.2, $C_*^{\text{SW-cell}}(\text{Tr}(\varphi)) = \text{Tr}(C_*^{\text{SW-cell}}(\varphi))$. By Remark 4.1, $C_*^{\text{SW-cell}}(X) \simeq C_*^{\text{cell}}(X)$ satisfies the hypotheses of Proposition 5.8. Applying Proposition 5.8 proves the theorem.

Classical Lefschetz trace formulas in algebraic or topological categories take the form

$$\sum_{i} (-1)^{i} \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{*}|_{H^{i}(X)}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\phi) = \sum_{x: \phi(x) = x} \operatorname{ind}_{x} \phi$$

under appropriate hypotheses. For simple cellular schemes, Theorem 5.9 gives a quadratic refinement of the left equality. We will combine this with Hoyois's enrichment of the right equality later in Section 8.2.

6. Rationality of the zeta function

In this section, we prove that the logarithmic zeta function of an endomorphism of a scheme with a cellular structure is computed via $C_*^{\text{SW-cell}}(X)$ (Theorem 6.1). When the cellular structure is moreover simple, we more explicitly show that the logarithmic zeta function is computed by the action on the terms $C_i^{\text{cell}}(X)$ of Morel–Sawant's cellular complex (Theorem 6.2). This, in turn, proves that dlog $\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^l}$ is dlog rational (cf. Definition 1.2) in this case.

Let X be a cellular scheme over a field k (cf. Definition 3.5) with an endomorphism $\phi: X \to X$. Since $C_*^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}$ is a functor, we obtain an endomorphism

$$C_*^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}(\phi) \colon C_*^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}(X) o C_*^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}(X).$$

Using Definition 5.4, we define

$$\operatorname{dlog} P_{X,\phi}^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(t) = \operatorname{dlog} P_{C_*^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(\phi)}(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} -\operatorname{Tr}(C_*^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(\phi)^m)t^{m-1}$$

to be the logarithmic characteristic polynomial of the endomorphism $C_*^{\text{SW-cell}}(\phi)$.

Theorem 6.1. Let X be a smooth projective cellular scheme over a field k and let $\phi \colon X \to X$ be an endomorphism. Then

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^l}(t) = -\operatorname{dlog} P_{X,\phi}^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(t).$$

Proof. We compute

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(t) &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{m}) t^{m-1} & \text{(by definition)} \\ &= \sum_{m \geq 1} C_{*}^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(\operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{m})) t^{m-1} & \text{(by proof of Proposition 5.3)} \\ &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(C_{*}^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(\phi^{m})) t^{m-1} & \text{(by Corollary 5.2)} \\ &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(C_{*}^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(\phi)^{m}) t^{m-1} & \text{(by functoriality)} \\ &= -\operatorname{dlog} P_{X,\phi}^{\operatorname{SW-cell}}(t) & \text{(by definition).} \end{split}$$

We can make dlog $P_{X,\phi}^{\text{SW-cell}}(t)$ more explicit when the cellular structure is simple. Assume this is the case. Let

$$0 \subsetneq \Omega_0(X) \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \Omega_s(X) = X$$

be a simple cellular structure on X. Write $X_i := \Omega_i(X) \setminus \Omega_{i-1}(X)$. Then

$$C_i^{\mathrm{SW\text{-}cell}}(X) := (C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(X), \mathbf{0}) \qquad \text{ and } \qquad C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(X) \cong \begin{cases} (\underline{K}_i^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_i} & i > 0 \\ \mathbb{Z}^{b_0} & i = 0. \end{cases}$$

See Remark 4.1. By Corollary 4.4 or [MS20, Corollary 2.43], there is a canonical chain homotopy class of endomorphisms $C_*^{\text{cell}}(\phi)$ of $C_*^{\text{cell}}(X)$. Choosing a representative, we obtain an endomorphism

$$C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(\phi) \colon C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(X) \to C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(X)$$

of each term in the complex $C^{\mathrm{cell}}_*(X)$. Since $C^{\mathrm{cell}}_i(X) \simeq (\underline{K}^{MW}_i)^{b_i}$, the endomorphism $C^{\mathrm{cell}}_i(\phi)$ is determined by a $b_i \times b_i$ square matrix of entries in $\mathrm{Hom}(\underline{K}^{MW}_i,\underline{K}^{MW}_i) \cong \mathrm{GW}(k)$, which is a commutative ring. We therefore have the usual notion of the characteristic polynomial $P_{C^{\mathrm{cell}}_i(\phi)}(t)$ of $C^{\mathrm{cell}}_i(\phi)$ in the polynomial ring over $\mathrm{GW}(k)$, namely

$$P_{C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)}(t) = \det(1 - tC_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)).$$

Theorem 6.2. Let X be a smooth projective simple cellular scheme over a field k and let $\phi: X \to X$ be an endomorphism. Then

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} -\langle -1 \rangle^i \frac{d}{dt} \log P_{C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(\phi)}(t).$$

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(t) &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(C_{*}^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}(\phi^{m}))t^{m-1} & \text{(by Theorem 6.1)} \\ &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \sum_{i = -\infty}^{\infty} \langle -1 \rangle^{i} \operatorname{Tr}(C_{i}^{\mathrm{SW-cell}}(\phi^{m}))t^{m-1} & \text{(by Proposition 5.8)} \\ &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \sum_{i = -\infty}^{\infty} \langle -1 \rangle^{i} \operatorname{Tr}(C_{i}^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi^{m}))t^{m-1} & \text{(by construction)} \\ &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \sum_{i = -\infty}^{\infty} \langle -1 \rangle^{i} \operatorname{Tr}(C_{i}^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)^{m})t^{m-1} & \text{(by Corollary 4.4)} \\ &= \sum_{m \geq 1} \sum_{i = -\infty}^{\infty} \langle -1 \rangle^{i} \frac{d}{dt} \log P_{C_{i}^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)}(t) & \text{(by Lemma 5.6).} & \Box \end{split}$$

Remark 6.3. If a power series $\Phi(t)$ is dlog rational in the sense of Definition 1.2, it is tempting to write $\Phi = \operatorname{dlog} \prod_j P_j^{c_j}$, where the power operation should be a suitable power structure on the Grothendieck–Witt ring. In fact, the ring $\operatorname{GW}(k)$ is endowed with a natural pre- λ -ring structure

$$\lambda_t: \mathrm{GW}(k) \to 1 + t\,\mathrm{GW}(k)[[t]]$$

sending each generator $\langle \alpha \rangle$ to $1 + \langle \alpha \rangle t$ (it is induced by sending a quadratic space to its successive alternating powers). By [GZLMH06], this endows GW(k) with a power structure such that

$$\left(\frac{1}{1-t}\right)^{r} = \lambda_{t}(r)$$

for every $r \in GW(k)$. In particular, we have

$$(1-t)^{-\langle \alpha \rangle} = 1 + \langle \alpha \rangle t.$$

Taking logarithmic derivatives, we get

$$\operatorname{dlog}\left((1-t)^{-\langle \alpha\rangle}\right) = \frac{\langle \alpha\rangle}{1+\langle \alpha\rangle t}.$$

We conclude from this that this power structure is not compatible with logarithmic derivatives, in the sense that in general for $r \in GW(k)$ and $f \in 1 + t GW(k)[[t]]$ we do not have

$$d\log f^r = r d\log f$$
.

Thus, this natural power structure with GW(k) does not provide us with a way of lifting our definition of dlog rationality to a notion of rationality.

7. \mathbb{A}^1 -Logarithmic zeta functions and real points

Let $\mathfrak{r}^{\mathbb{R}}: \mathrm{SH}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathrm{SH}$ denote the real realization functor from the stable \mathbb{A}^1 -homotopy category over \mathbb{R} to the topological stable homotopy category [Bac18, Section 10]. As above, we use the isomorphism $\mathrm{End}(1_{\mathrm{SH}(\mathbb{R})}) \cong \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R})$ given by the \mathbb{A}^1 -degree of Morel. This \mathbb{A}^1 -degree has the beautiful property (see, e.g., [AFW20, Prop 3.1.3]) that it encodes the topological degree of the corresponding map on real points:

(15)
$$\operatorname{sign} \operatorname{deg}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(f) = \operatorname{deg}^{\operatorname{top}} r^{\mathbb{R}}(f),$$

where \deg^{top} denotes the topological degree of a self map of a sphere, and $\mathrm{sign}: \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{Z}$ is the signature homomorphism, which takes the class of a bilinear form over \mathbb{R} to its signature. So $\mathrm{sign}(\mathfrak{a}\langle 1\rangle + \mathfrak{b}\langle -1\rangle) = \mathfrak{a} - \mathfrak{b}$ for all $\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b} \in \mathbb{Z}$. In other works, the map $r^{\mathbb{R}}(\mathrm{End}_1)$ induced by the real realization on endomorphisms of the corresponding unit objects $r^{\mathbb{R}}(\mathrm{End}_1)$: $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathrm{End}(1_{\mathrm{SH}(\mathbb{R})}) \to \mathrm{End}(1_{\mathrm{SH}}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ is $\mathrm{sign}: \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{Z}$.

Lemma 7.1. Suppose that $\varphi: X \to X$ is an endomorphism of a smooth scheme X over \mathbb{R} . Let $X(\mathbb{R})$ denote the real points of X, viewed as a real manifold, and $\varphi(\mathbb{R}): X(\mathbb{R}) \to X(\mathbb{R})$ the corresponding endomorphism. Then

$$\operatorname{sign} \operatorname{Tr}(\phi) = \operatorname{Tr}(\phi(\mathbb{R})).$$

Proof. The real realization functor $\mathfrak{r}^{\mathbb{R}}$ is symmetric monoidal by [HO16, Section 4]. Thus $\mathfrak{r}^{\mathbb{R}}\operatorname{Tr}(\phi)=\operatorname{Tr}(\mathfrak{r}^{\mathbb{R}}(\phi))=\operatorname{Tr}(\phi(\mathbb{R}))$ by, e.g., Proposition 2.4. Then $\mathfrak{r}^{\mathbb{R}}\operatorname{Tr}(\phi)=\operatorname{sign}\operatorname{Tr}(\phi)$ by (15).

Proposition 7.2. Suppose that $\varphi: X \to X$ is an endomorphism of a smooth projective scheme X over \mathbb{R} . Then in $\mathbb{Z}[[t]]$ there is an equality

$$\operatorname{sign}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}} = \frac{d}{dt}\log\prod_{i}(P_{\phi(\mathbb{R})|H_{\operatorname{top}}^{i}}(t))^{(-1)^{i+1}}$$

where $P_{\phi(\mathbb{R})|H^i_{top}}(t)$ denotes the characteristic polynomial

$$P_{\phi(\mathbb{R})|H^i}(t) = \det(1-t\phi(\mathbb{R})|H^i_{\mathrm{top}}(X(\mathbb{R});\mathbb{Z}))$$

of the action of $\phi(\mathbb{R})$ on the singular cohomology of $X(\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. Let $C^*_{\mathrm{top}}: H \to D(\mathbb{Z})$ denote the singular cochain functor from the homotopy category of topological spaces to the derived category of \mathbb{Z} -modules, which is symmetric monoidal. Since $D(\mathbb{Z})$ admits a tensor inverse to $C^*_{\mathrm{top}}(S^1)$, there is an induced symmetric monoidal functor $C^*_{\mathrm{top}}: \mathrm{SW} \to D(\mathbb{Z})$ from the topological Spanier–Whitehead category (see Proposition 2.6). We compute

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{sign}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^l} = \sum_{m\geq 1}\operatorname{Tr}(\phi(\mathbb{R})^m)t^{m-1} & (\operatorname{by}\;\operatorname{Lemma}\;7.1) \\ & = \sum_{m\geq 1}C_{\operatorname{top}}^*\operatorname{Tr}(\phi(\mathbb{R})^m)t^{m-1} & (C_{\operatorname{top}}^*:\operatorname{End}(1_{\operatorname{SW}})\to\mathbb{Z}\;\operatorname{is\;an\;isomorphism}) \\ & = \sum_{m\geq 1}\operatorname{Tr}(C_{\operatorname{top}}^*(\phi(\mathbb{R})^m))t^{m-1} & (C_{\operatorname{top}}^*\;\operatorname{is\;symmetric\;monoidal}) \\ & = \sum_{m\geq 1}\operatorname{Tr}(H_{\operatorname{top}}^*(\phi(\mathbb{R})^m))t^{m-1} \\ & = \sum_{m\geq 1}\sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty}(-1)^i\operatorname{Tr}(H_{\operatorname{top}}^i(\phi(\mathbb{R})^m))t^{m-1} \\ & = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty}-(-1)^i\frac{d}{dt}\operatorname{log}P_{\phi(\mathbb{R})|H_{\operatorname{top}}^i}(t) & (\operatorname{by}\;\operatorname{Lemma}\;5.6). \end{split}$$

For a $\mathbb{Z}[1/d]$ scheme \mathcal{X} and a point $z: \operatorname{Spec} L \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/d]$, let \mathcal{X}_L denote the pullback $X_L := \mathcal{X} \otimes L$ of \mathcal{X} along z. Similarly, given an endomorphism $\phi: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$, let $\phi_L: \mathcal{X}_L \to \mathcal{X}_L$ denote the corresponding pullback.

Note there are pullback map on Grothendieck-Witt groups

$$z^* \colon \operatorname{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[1/d]) \to \operatorname{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \eta_{\mathbb{R}}^* \colon \operatorname{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[1/d]) \to \operatorname{GW}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Moreover, for d=1, the map $\eta_{\mathbb{R}}^*$ is the isomorphism $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{Z}) \stackrel{\cong}{\to} \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R})$, which allows us to map elements of $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R})$ into $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[1/d])$. Let $\mathbb{Z}[\langle -1 \rangle, \langle p \rangle : p$ prime dividing d denote the polynomial ring in infinitely many variables over \mathbb{Z} , where each of $\langle -1 \rangle$ and $\langle p \rangle$ are viewed as variables. The notation defines an evident map $\mathbb{Z}[\langle -1 \rangle, \langle p \rangle : p$ prime dividing d \to $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[1/d])$, which is a surjection by [BW20, Lemma 5.6]. By a slight abuse of notation, we will also apply the maps z^* and $\eta_{\mathbb{R}}^*$ to elements of the ring $\mathbb{Z}[\langle -1 \rangle, \langle p \rangle : p$ prime dividing d.

Proposition 7.3. Let $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/d]$ be smooth and proper for d = 1 or d even and let $\varphi : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ be an endomorphism. Let z be a closed point of $\mathbb{Z}[1/d]$ with residue field \mathbb{F}_p . Then there is a power series ζ in $\mathbb{Z}[\langle -1 \rangle, \langle p \rangle : p$ prime dividing d[[t]] such that

$$\eta_{\mathbb{R}}^* \zeta = \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \varphi_{\mathbb{R}}}^{\mathbb{A}^1} \quad and \quad z^* \zeta = \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_n}, \varphi_{\mathbb{F}_n}}^{\mathbb{A}^1}.$$

Proof. The scheme \mathcal{X} is dualizable in SH($\mathbb{Z}[1/d]$) by [DDØ22, Theorem 3.4.2]. For d even, we have a Hermitian K-theory spectrum KO ∈ SH($\mathbb{Z}[1/d]$) with $[1_{\mathbb{Z}[1/d]}, \text{KO}] \cong \text{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[1/d])$ [Hor05], and $f^*\text{KO} = \text{KO}$ for $f = z^*, \eta_{\mathbb{R}}^*$ (and more generally) [PW18]. Let $\mathfrak{u} : 1_{\mathbb{Z}[1/d]} \to \text{KO}$ denote the unit map of the ring spectrum KO. Then $\mathfrak{u} \land \text{Tr}(\varphi^{\mathfrak{m}}) \in [1_{\mathbb{Z}[1/d],\text{KO}}] \cong \text{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[1/d])$.

Choose preimages $(u \wedge \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^m))$ in $\mathbb{Z}[\langle -1 \rangle, \langle p \rangle : p$ prime dividing d] of $u \wedge \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^m)$ under the surjection

$$\mathbb{Z}[\langle -1 \rangle, \langle p \rangle : p \text{ prime dividing } d] \to \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[1/d]).$$

Define ζ by

$$\zeta := \sum_{m=1}^\infty \, (\mathfrak{u} \, \widetilde{\wedge} \, \widetilde{\mathrm{Tr}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}})}) t^{\mathfrak{m}-1}$$

Let $f: \operatorname{Spec} L \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/d]$ denote either of the maps $z: \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}} \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/d]$ or $\eta_{\mathbb{R}}: \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{R} \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/d]$. The proposition then follows from the following equalities in GW(L):

$$\begin{split} f^*(\mathfrak{u} \wedge \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}})) &= f^*\mathfrak{u} \wedge f^*(\operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}})) & (f^* \text{ is symmetric monoidal}) \\ &= \mathfrak{u} \wedge \operatorname{Tr}(f^*\phi^{\mathfrak{m}}) & (f^* \operatorname{KO} \simeq \operatorname{KO} \text{ and Proposition 2.4}) \\ &= \operatorname{Tr}(f^*\phi^{\mathfrak{m}}) & ([1_L, 1_L] \xrightarrow{\tilde{\cong}} [1_L, \operatorname{KO}]). & \Box \end{split}$$

Corollary 7.4. For $\varphi: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ an endomorphism of a smooth and proper \mathbb{Z} -scheme.

$$\mathrm{dlog}^{\mathbb{A}^1} \ \zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{\mathbf{q}}},\phi_{\mathbb{F}_{\mathbf{q}}}} = z^* \, \mathrm{dlog}^{\mathbb{A}^1} \ \zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\phi_{\mathbb{R}}}.$$

Proof. Follows from Proposition 7.3 and the isomorphism $\eta_{\mathbb{R}}^* : \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{R})$.

Example 7.5. If $\varphi: X \to X$ is the relative Frobenius of a smooth proper toric variety X over $\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}}$, the Frobenius lifts to $\varphi: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ with \mathcal{X} smooth and proper over \mathbb{Z} (see, e.g., [BTLM97, Section 3.4] or [Bor09, Section 2.4]). (The criteria for smoothness and properness of toric varieties shows that the lift \mathcal{X} given in the references is indeed smooth and proper.) Combining Corollary 7.4 with Proposition 7.2 and (1) computes the logarithmic A¹-zeta function of these varieties.

When the Frobenius does not lift, we wish to use Theorems 6.1 and 6.2 to relate the logarithmic \mathbb{A}^1 -zeta function to the real points of a lift over a ring with a real place.

Let X be a strictly cellular scheme over \mathbb{R} . By Remark 4.1, the complex $C_*^{\mathrm{cell}}(X)$ is quasiisomorphic to a complex of the form

$$(16) \qquad \ldots \leftarrow 0 \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}^{b_0} \leftarrow (\mathsf{K}_1^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_1} \leftarrow (\mathsf{K}_2^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_2} \leftarrow \ldots \leftarrow (\mathsf{K}_n^{\mathrm{MW}})^{b_n} \leftarrow 0 \leftarrow \ldots$$

Proposition 7.6. Let X be a strictly cellular scheme over \mathbb{R} and let b_i be as in (16). Then there is a complex C_* in $\mathbf{Ch}_{>0}(\mathbb{Z})$ with $C_i \cong \mathbb{Z}^{b_i}$ and a quasi-isomorphism

$$C_* \simeq C^{\mathrm{top}}_*(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R});\mathbb{Z})$$

between C_* and the singular chains on the real manifold $X(\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. Let $\emptyset = \Omega_{-1}(X) \subset \Omega_0(X) \subset \Omega_1(X) \subset \cdots \subset \Omega_{n-1}(X) \subset \Omega_n(X) = X$ denote a strictly cellular structure on X, in the sense of Definition 3.1. So $\Omega_i(X) \subset X$ is an open subscheme and

$$\Omega_i(X) \smallsetminus \Omega_{i-1}(X) \cong \coprod_{\alpha \in \beta_i} \mathbb{A}^{n-i}$$

is a finite disjoint union of schemes isomorphic to affine space \mathbb{A}^{n-i} indexed by the set β_i . By Remark 4.1, the cardinality $|\beta_i| = b_i$ of β_i is b_i . For each i, there is a cofiber sequence of topological spaces

$$\Omega_{i-1}(X)(\mathbb{R}) \to \Omega_i(X)(\mathbb{R}) \to \Omega_i(X)(\mathbb{R})/\Omega_{i-1}(X)(\mathbb{R}) \simeq \vee_{\alpha \in \beta_i} \operatorname{Th}_{\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{n}-i}(\mathbb{R})} \nu_\alpha$$

where ν_{α} denotes the normal bundle of the component of $\Omega_{i}(X) \setminus \Omega_{i-1}(X)$ indexed by α in $\Omega_{i}(X)(\mathbb{R})$. Since $\mathbb{A}^{n-i}(\mathbb{R})$ is contractible, we may choose weak equivalences $\operatorname{Th}_{\mathbb{A}^{n-i}(\mathbb{R})} \nu_{\alpha} \simeq S^{i}$. Applying singular cochains C_{*}^{top} gives a distinguished triangle

$$C^{\mathrm{top}}_*(\Omega_{i-1}(X)(\mathbb{R})) \to C^{\mathrm{top}}_*(\Omega_i(X)(\mathbb{R})) \to \tilde{C}^{\mathrm{top}}_*(\vee_{\beta_i} S^i)$$

in $\mathbf{Ch}_{\geq 0}(\mathbb{Z})$, where $\tilde{C}_*^{\mathrm{top}}$ denote the reduced singular chains. The reduced singular chains on the wedge are quasi-isomorphic to a complex concentrated in degree \mathfrak{i} , namely

$$\tilde{C}_*^{\mathrm{top}}(\vee_{\beta_i} S^i) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^{b_i}[i].$$

The claim follows by induction on i.

Note that the definition of a strict cellular structure (see Definition 3.1) makes sense over an arbitrary base scheme. Given a smooth proper strictly cellular scheme $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec} A$ over a ring A and a real point $\eta : \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{R} \to A$, define $\mathcal{X}_{\eta}(\mathbb{R})$ to be the real manifold associated to the real points of $\mathcal{X} \times_A \mathbb{R}$.

Proposition 7.7. Suppose $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec} A$ is a smooth projective strictly cellular scheme with points $z: \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_q \to A$ and $\eta: \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{R} \to A$. Let $X:=\mathcal{X} \times_A \mathbb{F}_q$ denote the pullback of \mathcal{X} along z. Let $\phi: X \to X$ denote an endomorphism of X. Then

(1) There is a complex C_* in $\mathbf{Ch}_{>0}(\mathbb{Z})$ of the form

$$\ldots \leftarrow 0 \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}^{b_0} \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}^{b_1} \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}^{b_2} \leftarrow \ldots \leftarrow \mathbb{Z}^{b_n} \leftarrow 0 \leftarrow \ldots$$

which is quasi-isomorphic to the topological chains on $\mathcal{X}_{\eta}(\mathbb{R})$

$$C_* \simeq C_*^{\mathrm{top}}(\mathcal{X}_{\eta}(\mathbb{R}); \mathbb{Z}).$$

(2) The \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function of φ is given by the formula

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^I} = \sum_{i=-\infty}^{\infty} - \langle -1 \rangle^i \frac{d}{dt} \log P_{C_i^{\operatorname{cell}}(\phi)}(t)$$

where

$$P_{C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)}(t) = \det(1 - tC_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)).$$

and $C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi)$ is a square matrix of elements of $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of size $b_i \times b_i$.

Proof. Let C_* denote the complex of Proposition 7.6 applied to the strictly cellular scheme $\mathcal{X} \times_{\eta} \mathbb{R}$ over \mathbb{R} . The condition of (1) is satisfied by Proposition 7.6. Moreover, b_i is the cardinality of β_i , which is defined to be the set of connected components of $\Omega_i(X) \setminus \Omega_{i-1}(X)$ in the decomposition

$$\Omega_i(X) \smallsetminus \Omega_{i-1}(X) \cong \coprod_{\alpha \in \beta_i} \mathbb{A}^{n-i}.$$

The formula (2) then follows from Theorem 6.2.

8. Computing A¹-logarithmic zeta functions and examples

In this section, we describe two methods to explicitly compute examples of \mathbb{A}^1 -zeta functions. First, for schemes with a strict cellular structure over a finite field, we explicitly compute the enriched logarithmic zeta function of Frobenius endomorphisms using Theorem 6.2; this gives examples of the enriched logarithmic zeta function for varieties like projective space and Grassmannians.

Then over a finite field, we also use Hoyois' enriched Grothendieck—Lefschetz trace formula and Möbius inversion to obtain the coefficients of the enriched logarithmic zeta function of the Frobenius from those of the logarithmic derivative of the classical zeta function. We may use this method to compute the enriched logarithmic zeta function for non-cellular schemes, such as elliptic curves.

8.1. \mathbb{A}^1 -zeta function of Frobenius endomorphisms using Theorem 6.2. Let k be a finite field \mathbb{F}_q and X be a smooth proper k-scheme with a strict cellular structure

$$(17) \qquad \emptyset = \Sigma_{-1}(X) \subset \Sigma_0(X) \subset \Sigma_1(X) \subset \cdots \subset \Sigma_{n-1}(X) \subset \Sigma_n(X) = X$$

defined over k. As above, we set $\Omega_i(X) := X \setminus \Sigma_{n-i-1}(X)$.

Following [Mor12, Lemma 3.14], for a positive integer n, let $n_{\epsilon} \in GW(k)$ denote

$$n_{\epsilon} := \langle 1 \rangle + \langle -1 \rangle + \langle 1 \rangle + \ldots + \langle -1 \rangle,$$

the class of the rank n diagonal form with alternating 1's and -1's along the diagonal. Note that $n_{\varepsilon}m_{\varepsilon}=(nm)_{\varepsilon}$.

Proposition 8.1. Let X be a smooth proper scheme over \mathbb{F}_q with a strict cellular structure defined over \mathbb{F}_q , and let ϕ be the relative Frobenius. Then $C^{\operatorname{cell}}_*(\phi)$ is the map of complexes which in degree i

$$C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\phi): C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(X) \to C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(X)$$

is multiplication by q_{ϵ}^{i} .

Proof. We use the above notation for the strict cellular structure (17) on X. Since the relative Frobenius φ gives an endomorphism of the smooth pair $(\Omega_i(X), \Omega_i(X) \setminus X_i)$, it determines a map $\varphi : \operatorname{Th}_{X_n}(\nu_n) \to \operatorname{Th}_{X_n}(\nu_n)$ by purity [MV99, Theorem 2.23]. The map of complexes $C^{\operatorname{cell}}_*(\varphi)$ in degree i is given by $\widetilde{H}^{\mathbb{A}^l}_i(\varphi) : \widetilde{H}^{\mathbb{A}^l}_i(\operatorname{Th}_{X_i}(\nu_i)) \to \widetilde{H}^{\mathbb{A}^l}_i(\operatorname{Th}_{X_i}(\nu_i))$.

For each $\mathfrak{m}\in M_i$, choose an \mathbb{F}_q -point $\mathfrak{p}_\mathfrak{m}$ in the corresponding connected component of $X_i\cong\coprod_{\mathfrak{m}\in M_i}X_{i\mathfrak{m}}$ and $X_{i\mathfrak{m}}\cong \mathbb{A}^{n-i}$. The inclusion

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\mathfrak{p}_\mathfrak{m}}\nu_\mathfrak{i}\hookrightarrow\operatorname{Th}_{X_{\mathfrak{i}\mathfrak{m}}}\nu_\mathfrak{i}$$

is an \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence.

Since X has a strict cellular structure, the Krull dimension of X is $\mathfrak n$. By [sga03, Théorème II.4.10], we may choose a Zariski open subset $U\subset X$ containing $\mathfrak p_{\mathfrak m}$ and an étale map $\psi:U\to \mathbb A^n$ such that

$$X_{im} \cap U \longrightarrow \Omega_i(X) \cap U$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \psi \downarrow$$

$$\mathbb{A}^{n-i} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}^n$$

is a pullback, and the bottom horizontal map is the natural map $\operatorname{Spec} k[y_{i+1}, \ldots, y_n] \to \operatorname{Spec} k[y_1, \ldots, y_n]$ given by $(y_{i+1}, \ldots, y_n) \mapsto (0, \ldots, 0, y_{i+1}, \ldots, y_n)$. We obtain maps of Thom spaces

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\mathfrak{p}_{\mathfrak{m}}}\nu_{\mathfrak{i}} \to \operatorname{Th}_{X_{\mathfrak{i}\mathfrak{m}}\cap U}\nu_{\mathfrak{i}} \to \operatorname{Th}_{\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{n}-\mathfrak{i}}}N_{\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{n}-\mathfrak{i}}}\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{n}}$$

whose composition is an \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence.

Purity [MV99, Theorem 2.23] defines a canonical A¹-weak equivalence

$$\operatorname{Th}_{\mathbb{A}^{n-i}} \mathsf{N}_{\mathbb{A}^{n-i}} \mathbb{A}^n \simeq \mathbb{A}^n/\mathbb{A}^n - \mathbb{A}^{n-i}.$$

The map Spec $k[y_1,\ldots,y_i]\to \operatorname{Spec} k[y_1,\ldots,y_n]$ given by $(y_1,\ldots,y_i)\mapsto (y_1,\ldots,y_i,0,\ldots,0)$ determines an \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence

$$\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{i}}/\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{i}}-\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{0}}\simeq \mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{n}}/\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{n}}-\mathbb{A}^{\mathfrak{n}-\mathfrak{i}}$$

and excision determines an \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence

$$\mathbb{A}^{i}/\mathbb{A}^{i}-\mathbb{A}^{0}\simeq \mathbb{P}^{i}/\mathbb{P}^{i-1}$$
.

Composing in the homotopy category, we obtain a canonical (zig-zag) \mathbb{A}^1 -weak equivalence

$$\operatorname{Th}_{X_i}(\nu_i) \simeq \mathbb{P}^i/\mathbb{P}^{i-1}$$

where the relative Frobenius acts compatibly on both sides. The claim is thus equivalent to showing that the map

$$\widetilde{H}_{i}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\phi):\widetilde{H}_{i}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\mathbb{P}^{i}/\mathbb{P}^{i-1})\to \widetilde{H}_{i}^{\mathbb{A}^{l}}(\mathbb{P}^{i}/\mathbb{P}^{i-1})$$

induced by ϕ is multiplication by $\mathfrak{q}^i_\varepsilon$. By Morel's Hurewicz theorem, this map $\widetilde{H}_i^{\mathbb{A}^l}(\phi)$ is multiplication by $\deg^{\mathbb{A}^l}\phi$. The relative Frobenius is the map

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}^i/\mathbb{P}^{i-1} &\to \mathbb{P}^i/\mathbb{P}^{i-1} \\ y_i &\mapsto y_i^q \end{split}$$

for $j=0,\ldots,i$, which is homotopy equivalent to the i-fold smash product of $\mathbb{P}^1\to\mathbb{P}^1$ mapping $y_j\mapsto y_j^q$. The degree of this map is q_ε^i . (To see this, first note that the smash product multiplies degrees [Mor04] so it suffices to prove the claim for i=1. The computation for i=1 follows in a straightforward manner from computing the Bézoutian [Caz12, Definition 3.4] which computes the \mathbb{A}^1 -degree [Caz12, Theorem 3.6 and Theorem 1.2].) The degree and the claim follows.

Using Proposition 8.1 we can give an explicit description of the enriched logarithmic zeta function of a smooth projective scheme over \mathbb{F}_q equipped with an \mathbb{F}_q -rational strict cellular structure. Recall that in this case, for each \mathfrak{i} ,

$$C_{\mathfrak{i}}^{\operatorname{cell}}(X) \simeq (\underline{K}_{\mathfrak{i}}^{MW})^{\mathfrak{b}_{\mathfrak{i}}}$$

for a nonnegative integer $b_i \geq 0$. We call the integer b_i the rank of $C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(X)$.

Corollary 8.2. Let X be a smooth projective scheme of dimension $\mathfrak n$ over $\mathbb F_\mathfrak q$ equipped with a strict cellular structure defined over $\mathbb F_\mathfrak q$. Let $\mathfrak b_\mathfrak i$ be the rank of $C_\mathfrak i^{\operatorname{cell}}(X)$. Then

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_X^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^n -\langle -1 \rangle^i \frac{d}{dt} \log (1 - \mathfrak{q}_\varepsilon^i t)^{b_i}.$$

Proof. Let φ denote the relative Frobenius endomorphism. By Theorem 6.2, it suffices to show that $P_{C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\varphi)}(t) = (1 - q_{\varepsilon}^i t)^{b_i}$. This follows from the fact that $C_i^{\mathrm{cell}}(\varphi)$ is a $b_i \times b_i$ square matrix, which by Proposition 8.1 is multiplication by q_{ε}^i .

Remark 8.3. We think of Corollary 8.2 as morally saying

$$\text{``}\zeta_X^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t) = \frac{1}{\prod_{i \text{ odd}} (1-q_\varepsilon^i)^{b_i\langle -1\rangle} \prod_{i \text{ even}} (1-q_\varepsilon^i)^{b_i}} \text{''}.$$

As explained in Remark 6.3, this does not make literal sense because there is not a λ -ring structure on $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}})(t)$ compatible with the logarithmic derivative.

Corollary 8.2 yields many examples of enriched logarithmic zeta functions for varieties of natural geometric interest.

Example 8.4 (Enriched logarithmic zeta function of \mathbb{P}^n). Projective space \mathbb{P}^n has a strict cellular structure with a single copy of \mathbb{A}^i for each $0 \le i \le n$. Applying Corollary 8.2 shows that the logarithmic zeta function of \mathbb{P}^n is given by

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\mathbb{P}^n}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{log} \frac{1}{\displaystyle\prod_{\substack{0 \leq i \leq n \\ i \text{ even}}} (1 - q_\varepsilon^i t)} + \langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{log} \frac{1}{\displaystyle\prod_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq n \\ i \text{ odd}}} (1 - q_\varepsilon^i t)}.$$

Remark 8.5 (Functional equation for projective spaces). We record here that the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function of projective spaces of odd dimension satisfies a functional equation. When \mathfrak{n} is odd, we have

$$\chi_{c}^{\mathbb{A}^{1}}(\mathbb{P}^{n}) = \frac{n+1}{2} \left(\langle 1 \rangle + \langle -1 \rangle \right)$$

(see [Lev20, Example 1.6]). By Example 8.4, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\log\zeta_{\mathbb{P}^n}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t) = \frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{\prod_{0\leq i\leq n}(1-\tilde{q}^it)} + \langle -1\rangle\frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{\prod_{1\leq i\leq n}(1-\tilde{q}^it)}.$$

For any i such that $0 \le i \le n$, we have

$$\frac{1}{1-\tilde{q}^i\frac{1}{\tilde{q}^nt}}=\frac{\tilde{q}^nt}{\tilde{q}^i\left(\tilde{q}^{n-i}t-1\right)}=\frac{-\tilde{q}^{n-i}t}{1-\tilde{q}^{n-i}t}.$$

Combining the last three equations, we see that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\log\zeta_{\mathbb{P}^n}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t)=\chi_c^{\mathbb{A}^1}(\mathbb{P}^n)t+\frac{d}{dt}\log\zeta_{\mathbb{P}^n}^{\mathbb{A}^1}\left(\frac{1}{\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}^nt}\right).$$

The functional equation for the regular zeta function is a consequence of Poincare duality for the ℓ -adic étale cohomology groups. Morel and Sawant have interesting conjectures on Poincare duality for their cohomology theories for general smooth projective varieties X. It would be interesting to know if an analogous functional equation of the logarithmic zeta function can be deduced from such a statement for general smooth projective varieties.

Example 8.6 (Enriched logarithmic zeta function of $\mathbb{G}(1,3)$). The Grassmannian $\mathbb{G}(1,3)$ of lines in \mathbb{P}^3 has a strict cellular structure composed of the Schubert cycles, as we now recall. Fix a full flag $V_0 \subset V_1 \subset V_2 \subset V_3 = \mathbb{P}^3$ of linear subspaces, where V_i has dimension i. For $0 \le b \le a \le 2$, let $\Sigma_{a,b}$ denote the locus of lines in $\mathbb{G}(1,3)$ that meet V_{2-a} in a point and V_{3-b} in a line. Let $\Sigma_{a,b}^{\circ}$ denote the complement of all other Schubert cycles in $\Sigma_{a,b}$. Then, as in [EH16, Section 3.3.1], we have $\Sigma_{a,b} \simeq \mathbb{A}^{4-a-b}$, and the filtration by closed subsets

$$\emptyset\subset \Sigma_{2,2}\subset \Sigma_{2,1}\subset (\Sigma_{1,1}\cup \Sigma_{2,0})\subset \Sigma_{1,0}\subset \Sigma_{0,0}=\mathbb{G}(1,3)$$

gives a strict cellular structure as in Definition 3.1(1). Hence we have $b_2=2$ and all other $b_i=1$ for i=0,1,3,4. Thus

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\mathbb{G}(1,3)}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{log} \frac{1}{(1-t)(1-q_\varepsilon^2 t)^2 (1-q_\varepsilon^4 t)} + \langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{log} \frac{1}{(1-q_\varepsilon t)(1-q_\varepsilon^3 t)}.$$

Example 8.7 (Enriched logarithmic zeta function of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$). The product $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ has a strict cellular structure with a single copy of \mathbb{A}^0 , two copies of \mathbb{A}^1 and one copy of \mathbb{A}^2 . Applying Corollary 8.2 shows that the logarithmic zeta function of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ is given by

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{log} \frac{1}{(1-t)(1-q_{\varepsilon}^2 t)} + \langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{log} \frac{1}{(1-q_{\varepsilon} t)^2}.$$

8.2. \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta functions via Hoyois's trace formula. In [Hoy15, Theorem 1.3], Hoyois provides a quadratic refinement of the Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula in the setting of stable motivic homotopy theory, which gives us a procedure to compute the coefficients of the enriched logarithmic zeta function dlog $\zeta_{X,\varphi}^{\mathbb{A}^1}$ from those of dlog $\zeta_X(t)$.

We introduce some notation first. For an endomorphism $\varphi: X \to X$ of a scheme X, we denote by X^{φ} its scheme of fixed points. Given a finite separable field extension L/K, the classical trace map $\mathrm{Tr}_{L/K}: L \to K$ induces a $\mathit{Transfer}$

(18)
$$\operatorname{Tr}_{L/K}: \operatorname{GW}(L) \to \operatorname{GW}(K)$$

by sending a bilinear form $b: V \times V \to L$ to the form $Tr_{L/K} \circ b: V \times V \to K$ of rank [L:K] rank(b) (see [Mor12, The cohomological transfer, Chapter 4] [CF17, Lemma 2.3]). Hoyois' main theorem then has the following consequence:

Proposition 8.8. [Hoy15, Corollary 1.10] Let k be a field, let X be a smooth proper k-scheme, and let $\varphi: X \to X$ be a k-morphism with étale fixed points. Then

$$\mathrm{Tr}(\phi) = \sum_{x \in X^\phi} \mathrm{Tr}_{\kappa(x)/k} \langle \det(\mathrm{Id} - d\phi_x) \rangle.$$

This result gives a computation of the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function of a smooth proper scheme over a finite field in terms of its point counts.

Theorem 8.9. Let X be a smooth proper scheme over \mathbb{F}_q and let $\phi: X \to X$ be the relative Frobenius morphism. Let $\mathfrak u$ denote a non-square in \mathbb{F}_q . Then the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function dlog $\zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1}$ is computed by the following formula:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^l} &= \sum_{\mathfrak{m}} \left(\left(\sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{i} \mid \mathfrak{m} \\ \mathfrak{i} \text{ even}}} \left(\frac{1}{\mathfrak{i}} \sum_{d \mid \mathfrak{i}} \mu(d) |X(\mathbb{F}_{q^{\mathfrak{i}/d}})| \right) (\mathfrak{i} - 1) \langle 1 \rangle + \langle \mathfrak{u} \rangle) \right) \\ &+ \left(\sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{i} \mid \mathfrak{m} \\ \mathfrak{i} \text{ odd}}} \left(\frac{1}{\mathfrak{i}} \sum_{d \mid \mathfrak{i}} \mu(d) |X(\mathbb{F}_{q^{\mathfrak{i}/d}})| \right) \mathfrak{i} \langle 1 \rangle \right) \right) t^{\mathfrak{m} - 1}. \end{split}$$

Proof. For X a smooth proper scheme over \mathbb{F}_q and $\varphi: X \to X$ the Frobenius morphism, we apply Hoyois' formula to φ^m . We can write X^{φ^m} as a disjoint union over all of the points of

degree X of degree dividing m:

(19)
$$X^{\varphi^{\mathfrak{m}}} = \bigsqcup_{\substack{\mathfrak{i} \mid \mathfrak{m} \text{ degree } \mathfrak{i} \\ \text{points of } X}} \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^{\mathfrak{i}}}.$$

Denote by $\alpha(i)$ the number of points of degree i on X. Since $d\phi^m = 0$, we obtain that

$$(20) \hspace{1cm} N_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) := \mathrm{Tr}(\phi^{\mathfrak{m}}) = \sum_{\mathfrak{i} \mid \mathfrak{m}} \alpha(\mathfrak{i}) \, \mathrm{Tr}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^{\mathfrak{i}}}/\mathbb{F}_{q}} \langle 1 \rangle.$$

It is classical that

(21)
$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^{\mathfrak{i}}}/\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}}}\langle 1 \rangle = \begin{cases} \mathfrak{i}\langle 1 \rangle & \text{if } \mathfrak{i} \text{ odd} \\ (\mathfrak{i} - 1)\langle 1 \rangle + \langle \mathfrak{u} \rangle & \text{if } \mathfrak{i} \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

(see e.g. Lemma 58 in [KW21]). It remains to show that

(22)
$$\alpha(\mathfrak{i}) = \frac{1}{\mathfrak{i}} \sum_{d \mid \mathfrak{i}} \mu(d) |X(\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^{\mathfrak{i}/d}})|,$$

This follows from Möbius inversion since for every $i \geq 1$, we have

$$|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^i})| = \sum_{d|i} \alpha(d)d.$$

Remark 8.10. The quantity $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^{i/d}})|$ in Theorem 8.9 can be computed from the eigenvalues of the Frobenius morphism on étale cohomology groups of X. More precisely, choose a prime ℓ coprime to q. For i such that $0 \le i \le 2 \dim X$, let $\{\lambda_{i,1}, \ldots, \lambda_{i,b_i}\}$ denote the eigenvalues of the Frobenius morphism on $H^i_{\text{\'et}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$. Then the Grothendieck–Lefschetz trace formula ([Poo17, Theorem 7.1.1(ii), Section 7.5.7]) tells us that

$$|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^{\mathfrak{i}/d}})| = \sum_{j=0}^{2\dim X} (-1)^j \left(\sum_{l=1}^{b_j} \lambda_{j,l}^{\mathfrak{i}/d}\right).$$

Remark 8.11. From (21) and (22), we see that only the case where $\mathfrak q$ is odd will be interesting, and that the only contributions to $\operatorname{disc} N_{\mathfrak m}(X)$ come from $\mathfrak i \mid \mathfrak m$ with $\mathfrak i$ even. In particular, $\operatorname{disc} N_{\mathfrak m}(X)$ is trivial for all odd $\mathfrak m$ and we have the expression $N_{\mathfrak m}(X) = |X(\mathbb F_{\mathfrak q^m})|\langle 1 \rangle$ for all odd $\mathfrak m$.

For even m, we have the formula

(23)
$$\operatorname{disc} N_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) = \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{i} \mid \mathfrak{m} \\ \mathfrak{i} \text{ even}}} \alpha(\mathfrak{i})$$

in $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, and therefore, using (22) again, that

(24)
$$\operatorname{disc} N_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) = \sum_{\substack{i \mid m \\ i \text{ even}}} \frac{1}{i} \sum_{\substack{d \mid i}} \mu(d) |X(\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^{i/d}})|.$$

Example 8.12 (Enriched logarithmic zeta function of Spec \mathbb{F}_{q^2}). Since Spec \mathbb{F}_{q^2} has exactly one closed point of degree 2, it follows from Theorem 8.9 that

$$N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\operatorname{Spec}\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^2}) = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} 0 & \text{if } \mathfrak{m} \text{ odd} \\ \langle 1 \rangle + \langle u \rangle & \text{if } \mathfrak{m} \text{ even} \end{array} \right.,$$

and hence

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_{q^2}, \phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} = \sum_{m \text{ even}} (\langle 1 \rangle + \langle u \rangle) t^{m-1} = \langle u \rangle \operatorname{dlog} \frac{1}{1 - \langle u \rangle t} + \operatorname{dlog} \frac{1}{1 + t}.$$

Example 8.13 (Enriched logarithmic zeta function of a twisted product of the projective line). Let $X := \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q} \mathbb{P}^1$. The difference between the cellular structure of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ as in Example 8.7 and that of X is that $\Sigma_1(X) \setminus \Sigma_0(X)$ is $\mathbb{A}^1_q \coprod \mathbb{A}^1_q$ for $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ whereas it is $\mathbb{A}^1 \times_{\mathbb{F}_q} \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ for X.

We will prove that

$$N_{\mathfrak{m}}(X) = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} 1 + \mathfrak{q}_{\varepsilon}^{2\mathfrak{m}} & \text{if } \mathfrak{m} \text{ odd} \\ 1 + \mathfrak{q}_{\varepsilon}^{2\mathfrak{m}} + (\langle 1 \rangle + \langle \mathfrak{u} \rangle)(-\langle -1 \rangle \mathfrak{q}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathfrak{m}}) & \text{if } \mathfrak{m} \text{ even.} \end{array} \right.$$

Once we have this, a direct calculation will then show that

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1} = \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{(1-t)(1-q_\varepsilon^2 t)} + \langle -u \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{1-q_\varepsilon \langle u \rangle t} + \langle -1 \rangle \frac{d}{dt} \log \frac{1}{1+q_\varepsilon t}.$$

Since $\mathbb{P}^1 = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_q \bigsqcup \mathbb{A}^1$, $N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbb{P}^1) = 1 - \langle -1 \rangle q_{\varepsilon}^{\mathfrak{m}}$, $N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_q) = 1$ (Example 8.4) and $N_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is a motivic measure (Proposition 9.1), it follows that $N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbb{A}^1) = -\langle -1 \rangle q_{\varepsilon}^{\mathfrak{m}}$. Once again using the fact that $N_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is a motivic measure, we get that

$$N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbb{A}^{1} \times \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_{q^{2}}) = N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbb{A}^{1}) \times N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_{q^{2}}) = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} 0 & \text{if } \mathfrak{m} \text{ odd} \\ (\langle 1 \rangle + \langle u \rangle)(-\langle -1 \rangle q_{\varepsilon}^{\mathfrak{m}}) & \text{if } \mathfrak{m} \text{ even} \end{array} \right.$$

We also have $\Sigma_2(X)\setminus \Sigma_1(X)=\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{q}^2/\mathbb{F}_q}\mathbb{A}^1\cong \mathbb{A}^2$, and $\Sigma_1(X)\setminus \Sigma_0(X)=\operatorname{Spec}\mathbb{F}_q$. Since $N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbb{A}^2)=N_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbb{A}^1)^2$, and $X=\Sigma^2(X)$, putting the last few lines together, and once again using the fact that $N_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is a motivic measure, we obtain the formula above for $N_{\mathfrak{m}}(X)$.

Remark 8.14. It is easy to write down equations for the variety in Example 8.13 explicitly. A smooth quadric Q in \mathbb{P}^3 over \mathbb{F}_q is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ over \mathbb{F}_q if the discriminant of the corresponding bilinear form is a square in \mathbb{F}_q (equivalently when the two rulings are defined over \mathbb{F}_q), and is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q} \mathbb{P}^1$ otherwise (equivalently when the two rulings are defined over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} but not over \mathbb{F}_q).

For example, the quadric with defining equation $11x_0^2 + x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 = 0$ has nonsquare discriminant over \mathbb{F}_3 and is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_9/\mathbb{F}_3} \mathbb{P}^1$, whereas it has square discriminant over \mathbb{F}_5 and hence is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ over \mathbb{F}_5 .

Remark 8.15. The calculation in Example 8.7 and Example 8.13 illustrate the connection with the topology of the real points of a lift of $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q}\mathbb{P}^1$ to characteristic 0 as in Proposition 7.2. As we remarked in the introduction, when \mathfrak{q} is congruent to 3 modulo 4, we have $\mathfrak{u}=-1$ and the extension $\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}}\subset\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^2}$ is given by $\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^2}=\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}}[\sqrt{-1}]$ and the \mathbb{R} -schemes $\mathbb{P}^1\times\mathbb{P}^1$ and $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^2}/\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}}}\mathbb{P}^1$ over $\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}}$ respectively. These varieties have natural lifts to \mathbb{Z} -schemes, and the Frobenius endomorphism also lifts, so Proposition 7.3 applies with $\mathfrak{d}=1$. The former \mathbb{R} -scheme has two 1-cells, whereas the latter has no 1-cells, which is illustrated in the calculation below as an additional $-\frac{\mathfrak{d}}{\mathfrak{d}t}\log\frac{1}{(1-t)^2}$ in sign dlog $\zeta_{\mathbb{P}^1\times\mathbb{P}^1,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1}$ when compared to sign dlog $\zeta_{\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}^2}/\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{q}}}^{\mathbb{P}^1,\phi}$.

Since q is odd, we have sign $q_{\varepsilon} = 1$ and sign $q_{\varepsilon}^2 = 1$. Since q is congruent to 3 modulo 4, we have u = -1 and sign $\langle u \rangle = -1$. Combining these with the calculations in Example 8.7

and Example 8.13, we get that

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{sign}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta^{\mathbb{A}^1}_{\mathbb{P}^1\times\mathbb{P}^1,\phi} &= \frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{(1-t)(1-t)} - \frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{(1-t)^2}, \quad \text{ and} \\ \operatorname{sign}\operatorname{dlog}\zeta^{\mathbb{A}^1}_{\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}}/\mathbb{F}_q}\,\mathbb{P}^1,\phi &= \frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{(1-t)(1-t)} + \frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{1+t} + (-1)\frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{1+t} \\ &= \frac{d}{dt}\log\frac{1}{(1-t)(1-t)}. \end{split}$$

8.3. The logarithmic zeta function of non-cellular schemes. Observe that Theorem 8.9 applies to any smooth projective scheme X, not necessarily cellular. One may hope to directly prove that the enriched logarithmic zeta function of any smooth projective scheme is dlog rational from the formula in Theorem 8.9, without appealing to any good underlying cohomology theory.

We illustrate Theorem 8.9 in the first interesting example of a non-cellular scheme, namely the case of an elliptic curve E. We will use the connection with the eigenvalues of the Frobenius endomorphism on the ℓ -adic étale cohomology groups as in Remark 8.10. The cohomology groups $H^0_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(E_{\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}},\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ and $H^2_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(E_{\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}},\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ are 1-dimensional, and the eigenvalues of the Frobenius endomorphism are 1 and q respectively, and that $H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(E_{\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}},\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ is 2-dimensional with the two Frobenius eigenvalues $\lambda, \overline{\lambda}$ that satisfy $\lambda + \overline{\lambda} = \mathfrak{a}$ for some integer \mathfrak{a} and $\lambda \overline{\lambda} = \mathfrak{q}$ (see [Poo17, Section 7.2]). These imply

$$E(\mathbb{F}_q^{i/d}) = 1 - (\lambda^{i/d} + (\overline{\lambda})^{i/d}) + q^{i/d}$$

and in particular, that

$$E(\mathbb{F}_q) = 1 - \alpha + q, \qquad \mathrm{and}, \qquad E(\mathbb{F}_{q^2}) = 1 - (\alpha^2 - 2q) + q^2.$$

In particular, by Theorem 8.9 the coefficient of t^1 in $d\log_E^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t)$ is

$$\frac{\alpha-\alpha^2+q+q^2}{2}\langle u\rangle+\frac{2-\alpha-\alpha^2+3q+q^2}{2}\langle 1\rangle.$$

This coefficient has nontrivial discriminant if and only if $\frac{\alpha-\alpha^2+q+q^2}{2}$ is odd, or equivalently, when $q\equiv 3 \mod 4$ and $\alpha\equiv 2,3 \mod 4$, and similarly when $q\equiv 1 \mod 4$ and $\alpha\equiv 0,1$ $\mod 4$.

Continuing this way, for the elliptic curve with Weierstrass equation $y^2 = x^3 + 2x + 3$ over \mathbb{F}_7 , which has $\mathfrak{a}=2$, we find

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{dlog}_E^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t) &= 6\langle 1\rangle t^0 + (59\langle 1\rangle + 1\langle u\rangle) t^1 + 378\langle 1\rangle t^2 \\ &\quad + 2400\langle 1\rangle t^3 + 16566\langle 1\rangle t^4 + (117179\langle 1\rangle + 1\langle u\rangle) t^5 + \cdots \end{split}$$

9. Motivic measures

For k a field, we denote by $K_0(Var_k)$ the modified Grothendieck ring of varieties over k, defined to be the quotient of the free abelian group on classes of algebraic varieties over k by the following relations:

$$(25) X - Y - U$$

for every variety X over k and every closed subscheme Y of X with open complement U, and

$$(26) X - Y$$

for all varieties X, Y over k such that there exists a radicial surjective morphism $f: X \to Y$. Recall that a morphism is said to be radicial surjective if it is bijective and if it induces purely inseparable extensions of residue fields.

For X a quasi-projective variety over a field k, Kapranov's zeta function [Kap00] is defined to be the power series with coefficients in the (modified) Grothendieck ring of varieties $K_0(Var_k)$ given by

$$Z_X^{\operatorname{Kap}}(t) = \sum_{n \geq 0} [\operatorname{Sym}^n(X)] t^n,$$

where $\operatorname{Sym}^n(X)$ is the n-th symmetric power of X. When $k = \mathbb{F}_q$, it specializes to $\zeta_X(t)$ via the counting measure $\#_{\mathbb{F}_q}$. It is therefore natural to ask whether one could also recover our enriched zeta function from Z_X^{Kap} . We do not see an immediate way of doing this. The natural candidate would be to apply the \mathbb{A}^1 -categorical trace $\operatorname{Tr}(\phi)$ where ϕ denotes the Frobenius

$$\mathrm{Tr}(\phi): K_0(\mathrm{Var}_{\mathbb{F}_\mathfrak{q}}) \to \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_\mathfrak{q})$$

(See Proposition 9.1 to see that this is a motivic measure.) However, this gives the classical zeta function, with all coefficients in $\mathbb{Z} \subset \mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ by [Hoy15, Example 1.6]. On the other hand, this motivates the question of determining whether our enriched trace and enriched zeta functions define *motivic measures* in some appropriate sense, and the aim of this section is to answer this question in full.

In this section, the endomorphism φ will be the Frobenius.

9.1. The \mathbb{A}^1 -trace as a motivic measure. Recall that for every $m \geq 1$, there is a motivic measure

$$\#_{\mathbb{F}_{q^m}}: K_0(\operatorname{Var}_{\mathbb{F}_q}) o \mathbb{Z},$$

called the **counting measure**, given by sending the class [X] of a variety X over \mathbb{F}_q to its point count $|X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})|$. For every $m \geq 1$, define $N_m(X) = Tr(\phi^m) \in GW(\mathbb{F}_q)$ to be the \mathbb{A}^1 -trace of the Frobenius endomorphism on X.

Proposition 9.1. The assignment $X \mapsto N_m(X)$ induces a motivic measure

$$N_{\mathfrak{m}}: K_0(\operatorname{Var}_{\mathbb{F}_q}) \to \operatorname{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q)$$

enriching $\#_{\mathbb{F}_q^m}$, in the sense that we recover $\#_{\mathbb{F}_q^m}$ by taking ranks.

Proof. We first show that N_m is well defined. For this, note that through the group isomorphism $\mathrm{GW}(\mathbb{F}_q) \cong \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, we have $N_m(X) = (|X(\mathbb{F}_q)|, \mathrm{disc}(N_m(X)))$, with $\mathrm{disc}(N_m(X))$ given by formula (24), and therefore it passes to the quotient with respect to both the cut-and-paste relations (25) and the relations (26).

To prove multiplicativity, note that the Frobenius on $X \times Y$ is given by the product $\phi_X \times \phi_Y$. The trace is multiplicative with respect to smash product [PS14, Corollary 5.9], giving the equality

$$N_{\mathfrak{m}}(X \times Y) = N_{\mathfrak{m}}(X)N_{\mathfrak{m}}(Y).$$

We may thus conclude that $N_{\mathfrak{m}}$ defines a motivic measure.

9.2. The enriched zeta function as a motivic measure. Associating to a variety X over \mathbb{F}_q its zeta function $\zeta_X(t)$ induces a motivic measure

$$\zeta: K_0(\operatorname{Var}_{\mathbb{F}_q}) \to \mathcal{R}_1$$

where $\mathcal{R}_1 = \{f \in \mathbb{C}(t), \ f(0) = 1\} \subset 1 + t\mathbb{C}[[t]]$ is equipped with the Witt ring structure (see [Ram15, Theorem 2.1]). The logarithmic derivative

$$dlog: 1 + t\mathbb{C}[[t]] \to \mathbb{C}[[t]]$$

sends the Witt ring structure to the ring structure where addition is addition of power series, and multiplication is coefficient-wise multiplication. In particular, composing it with ζ , we get a motivic measure

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta : \mathsf{K}_0(\operatorname{Var}_{\mathbb{F}_q}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}}$$
.

Proposition 9.2. The assignment $X \mapsto \operatorname{dlog} \zeta_{X,\phi}^{\mathbb{A}^1}(t)$ defines a motivic measure

$$\operatorname{dlog} \zeta^{\mathbb{A}^l}: K_0(\operatorname{Var}_{\mathbb{F}_q}) \to \operatorname{GW}(k)[[t]]$$

lifting dlog ζ .

Proof. Follows from Proposition 9.1.

Remark 9.3. The Kapranov zeta function $Z_X^{\mathrm{Kap}}(t)$ of any curve X over \mathbb{F}_q is a rational function. On the other hand, the Kapranov zeta function is usually not rational for varieties of higher dimensions [LL03]. There is reason to believe that Morel and Sawant's conjectures [Mor22] on \mathbb{A}^1 -cellular homology for general smooth projective varieties would have consequences for rationality of the \mathbb{A}^1 -logarithmic zeta function analogous to Theorem 6.1.

References

- [AFH20] Aravind Asok, Jean Fasel, and Michael J. Hopkins, Algebraic vector bundles and p-local A¹-homotopy theory, arXiv:2008.03363, 2020.
- [AFW20] Aravind Asok, Jean Fasel, and Ben Williams, Motivic spheres and the image of the Suslin-Hurewicz map, Invent. Math. 219 (2020), no. 1, 39–73. MR 4050101
- [Ayo07] Joseph Ayoub, Les six opérations de Grothendieck et le formalisme des cycles évanescents dans le monde motivique, vol. 315, Société mathématique de France, 2007.
- [Bac18] Tom Bachmann, Motivic and real étale stable homotopy theory, Compos. Math. 154 (2018), no. 5, 883–917. MR 3781990
- [BW20] Tom Bachmann and Kirsten Wickelgren, A¹-Euler classes: six functors formalisms, dualities, integrality and linear subspaces of complete intersections, Accepted for publication in Journal Institute Math Jussieu. arXiv:2002.01848, 2020.
- [Bor09] James Borger, Lambda-rings and the field with one element, arXiv:0906.3146, 2009.
- [BTLM97] Anders Buch, Jesper F. Thomsen, Niels Lauritzen, and Vikram Mehta, *The Frobenius morphism on a toric variety*, Tohoku Math. J. (2) **49** (1997), no. 3, 355–366. MR 1464183
- [Caz12] Christophe Cazanave, Algebraic homotopy classes of rational functions, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 45 (2012), no. 4, 511–534 (2013). MR 3059240
- [CF17] Baptiste Calmès and Jean Fasel, Finite Chow-Witt correspondences, arXiv:1412.2989, 2017.
- [DDØ22] Adrien Dubouloz, Frédéric Déglise, and Paul Arne Østvaer, Punctured tubular neighborhoods and stable homotopy at infinity, arXiv:2206.01564, 2022.
- [DI05] Daniel Dugger and Daniel C. Isaksen, *Motivic cell structures*, Algebr. Geom. Topol. **5** (2005), 615–652. MR 2153114
- [EH16] David Eisenbud and Joe Harris, 3264 and all that—a second course in algebraic geometry, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2016. MR 3617981
- [Ful84] W. Fulton, *Intersection theory*, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Springer-Verlag, 1984.

- [GZLMH06] S. M. Gusein-Zade, I. Luengo, and A. Melle-Hernández, Power structure over the Grothendieck ring of varieties and generating series of Hilbert schemes of points, Michigan Mathematical Journal 54 (2006), no. 2, 353–359.
- [HO16] J Heller and K Ormsby, Galois equivariance and stable motivic homotopy theory, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 368 (2016), no. 11, 8047–8077.
- [Hor05] Jens Hornbostel, A¹-representability of Hermitian K-theory and Witt groups, Topology 44 (2005), no. 3, 661–687.
- [Hoy15] Marc Hoyois, A quadratic refinement of the Grothendieck-Lefschetz-Verdier trace formula, Algebraic & Geometric Topology 14 (2015), no. 6, 3603–3658.
- [Hu05] Po Hu, On the Picard group of the stable A¹-homotopy category, Topology **44** (2005), no. 3, 609–640.
- [Kap00] M. Kapranov, The elliptic curve in the S-duality theory and Eisenstein series for Kac-Moody groups, arXiv:0001005, 2000.
- [KW21] Jesse Leo Kass and Kirsten Wickelgren, An arithmetic count of the lines on a smooth cubic surface, Compos. Math. 157 (2021), no. 4, 677–709. MR 4247570
- [Lev20] Marc Levine, Aspects of enumerative geometry with quadratic forms, Doc. Math. 25 (2020), 2179–2239. MR 4198841
- [LL03] Michael Larsen and Valery A. Lunts, Motivic measures and stable birational geometry, Mosc. Math. J. 3 (2003), no. 1, 85–95, 259. MR 1996804
- [LYZR19] Marc Levine, Yaping Yang, Gufang Zhao, and Joël Riou, Algebraic elliptic cohomology theory and flops I, Math. Ann. **375** (2019), no. 3-4, 1823–1855. MR 4023393
- [Mac71] Saunders MacLane, Categories for the working mathematician, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 5, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1971. MR 0354798
- [Mar09] Florian. Marty, Des ouverts zariski et des morphismes lisses en géométrie relative, PhD Thesis, available at http://thesesups.ups-tlse.fr/540/1/Marty_Florian.pdf, 2009.
- [Mil13] J.S. Milne, Lectures on Etale Cohomology, 2013, available at https://www.jmilne.org/math/CourseNotes/lec.html.
- [Mor04] Fabien Morel, On the motivic π_0 of the sphere spectrum, Axiomatic, enriched and motivic homotopy theory, NATO Sci. Ser. II Math. Phys. Chem., vol. 131, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2004, pp. 219–260. MR 2061856
- [Mor12] _____, A¹-algebraic topology over a field, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2052, Springer, Heidelberg, 2012. MR 2934577
- [Mor22] _____, On the cellular A¹-homology of smooth varieties: some computations and open problems, Talk on joint work with Anand Sawant at Motivic Geometry Conference, University of Oslo, August 8, 2022.
- [MS20] Fabien Morel and Anand Sawant, Cellular \mathbb{A}^1 -homology and the motivic version of Matsumoto's theorem, arXiv:2007.14770, 2020.
- [MV99] Fabien Morel and Vladimir Voevodsky, A¹-homotopy theory of schemes, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1999), no. 90, 45–143 (2001). MR 1813224
- [Poo17] Bjorn Poonen, Rational points on varieties, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 186, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2017. MR 3729254
- [PS14] Kate Ponto and Michael Shulman, Traces in symmetric monoidal categories, Expo. Math. 32 (2014), no. 3, 248–273. MR 3253568
- [PW18] I. Panin and C. Walter, On the motivic commutative ring spectrum **BO**, Algebra i Analiz **30** (2018), no. 6, 43–96. MR 3882540
- [Ram15] Niranjan Ramachandran, Zeta functions, Grothendieck groups, and the Witt ring, Bull. Sci. Math. 139 (2015), no. 6, 599–627. MR 3395874
- [Rio05] Joël Riou, Dualité de Spanier-Whitehead en géométrie algébrique, Comptes Rendus Mathematique **340** (2005), no. 6, 431–436.
- [Roz06] Nikita Rozenblyum, Motivic homotopy theory and power operations in motivic cohomology, Harvard Senior Thesis, 2006.
- [sga03] Revêtements étales et groupe fondamental (SGA 1), Documents Mathématiques (Paris) [Mathematical Documents (Paris)], 3, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2003, Séminaire de

géométrie algébrique du Bois Marie 1960–61. [Algebraic Geometry Seminar of Bois Marie 1960–61], Directed by A. Grothendieck, With two papers by M. Raynaud, Updated and annotated reprint of the 1971 original [Lecture Notes in Math., 224, Springer, Berlin; MR0354651 (50 #7129)]. MR MR2017446 (2004g:14017)

[Tot14] Burt Totaro, Chow groups, Chow cohomology, and linear varieties, Forum Math. Sigma 2 (2014), Paper No. e17, 25. MR 3264256

[Voe98] Vladimir Voevodsky, A¹-homotopy theory, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. I (Berlin, 1998), no. Extra Vol. I, 1998, pp. 579–604. MR 1648048

 $Email\ address: {\tt margaret.bilu@math.u-bordeaux.fr}$

 $Email\ address: \ {\tt who.math@gmail.com}$

 $Email\ address:$ padmavathi_srinivasan@brown.edu

Email address: ivogt.math@gmail.com

 $Email\ address: {\tt kirsten.wickelgren@duke.edu}$